
 

Agenda - Equality, Local Government and 

Communities Committee 
Meeting Venue: 

Committee Room 2 - Senedd 

Meeting date: 11 July 2019 

Meeting time: 09.15

For further information contact: 

Naomi Stocks 

Committee Clerk 

0300 200 6222  

SeneddCommunities@assembly.wales
------ 

Private pre-meeting (09:15 - 09:30)  

1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of 

interest 

(09:30)   

2 Inquiry into empty properties: evidence session 3 

(09:30 - 10:30) (Pages 1 - 46)  

Shaheena Din, National Projects Manager, Scottish Empty Homes Partnership 

Andrew Lavender, Project Consultant, No Use Empty Scheme 

Brighid Carey, Project Manager: Community-based approaches, Action on 

Empty Homes 

Nigel Dewbery, Director of Obligation Delivery and Installation Services, E.ON 

Break (10.30 - 10.40)  

3 Inquiry into empty properties: evidence session 4 

(10.40 - 11.35) (Pages 47 - 63)  

Rebecca Jackson, Policy and Research Officer, Shelter Cymru 

Matthew Kennedy, Policy and Public Affairs Manager, Chartered Institute of 

Housing Cymru 

Michelle Collins, Specialist Team Manager, United Welsh 

4 Inquiry into empty properties: evidence session 5 

(11.35 - 12.30) (Pages 64 - 76)  

Douglas Haig, Vice Chairman, Residential Landlords Association 

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



Gavin Dick, Local Authority Policy Officer, National Landlords Association 

Ifan Glyn, Senior Hub Director, Federation of Master Builders 

5 Papers to note 

(12.30 - 12.35) (Page 77)  

5.1 Correspondence from the First Minister to the Llywydd regarding 

international obligations that bind the United Kingdom - 3 July 

 (Pages 78 - 79)  

5.2 Correspondence to the Minister for Housing and Local Government regarding 

fire safety in high rise buildings - 4 July 2019 

 (Pages 80 - 83)  

6 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the 

public from the remainder of the meeting 

(12.35)   

7 Inquiry into empty properties: consideration of evidence received 

(12.35 - 12.45)   

8 Joint report by the Finance; Children, Young People and Education; 

and Equality, Local Government and Communities Committees: 

Assessing the impact of budget decisions - consideration of 

responses 

(12.45 - 13.00) (Pages 84 - 97)  



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Papur 1 - Scottish Empty Homes Partnership
Paper 1- Scottish Empty Homes Partnership 

 Scottish Empty Homes Partnership 

Response to the Equalities, Local Government and 

Communities inquiry into Empty Homes (Wales)  

May 2019  

Introduction 

The Scottish Empty Homes Partnership welcomes the opportunity to respond to your call 

for evidence to assist in consideration of your inquiry into Empty Homes. 

The Scottish Empty Homes Partnership (SEHP) is funded by Scottish Government and 

hosted by Shelter Scotland. Its aim in to encourage private sector empty properties back 

into use. We do this in a number of ways: offering advice to individual owners; supporting 

a network of empty homes practitioners in councils and other bodies; and developing 

policy and practice ideas. Shelter Scotland helps over half a million people every year 

struggling with bad housing or homelessness through our advice, support and legal 

services. And we campaign to make sure that, one day, no one will have to turn to us for 

help. We’re here so no one has to fight bad housing or homelessness on their own. 

As an organisation whose focus is on private sector empty properties in Scotland, we have 

not sought to comment on empty properties in Wales but have instead limited our 

answers to requests information and views on the problems caused by empty properties 

and approaches to dealing with empty properties in Scotland. 

Our responses draw on and repeat evidence we recently submitted to the Local 

Government and Communities Committee in Scotland in response to their call for views 

on empty homes in Scotland. 

Pack Page 23



Page 2  

Response to questions 

 

Q1:  Is enough being done to tackle empty properties in Wales? If not, what needs to 

change? 

We are unable to comment on this question. 

Q2:  What impact can empty properties have on a community? 

Empty homes are a blight on communities and have a negative impact on residents sense 

of place. Leaving a home empty costs money and loses money for the owner, the council, 

emergency services and the local economy. 

Long term empty homes can have a negative effect on the local property market. They 

can create buyer suspicion and reduce interest in the area, leading to lower house prices 

and homes becoming harder to sell, even at reduced rates.  

Empty homes are more prone to anti-social behaviour than an occupied home because 

there is nobody living in the house keeping it secure. Responding to incidents of 

vandalism and criminal activity carries an immediate cost for local authorities and 

emergency services.  Additionally, after dealing with the immediate break in and/or 

criminal activity, there is likely to be further work required to secure the property. This 

work is usually carried out by the council on the instruction of the police, and then 

recharged to the owner, but if the owner is not in a position to pay, then that cost also 

falls to the public purse. 

Additionally, increasing numbers of empty homes can make fragile communities harder to 

sustain as they become caught in a downward spiral, where younger generations leave 

the community to take up employment opportunities elsewhere and this then leads to 

reduced businesses for local shops and independent traders - already at risk from online 

retailers or out of town shopping developments – increasing the likelihood of them going 

out of business and further reducing the appeal of the community to potential 

newcomers. 

With fewer new parents in the area, there is a decline in the need for schools and other 

parent and children facilities, which eventually may lead to school closure, and the 

withdrawal of other facilities, acting as a further disincentive to a new generation of 

potential homeowners and members of the community.  

The limited existing workforce resources available and limited ability of the area to attract 

incomers also serves to reduce the likelihood of new employers moving into the area and 

establishing businesses there, meaning that the average age of the community increases, 

while, at the same time, the total population reduces, adding to the economic problems 

the community is facing and reducing its ability to deal with them. 

Every empty home is losing money for its owner. The total cost to the owner of leaving a 

2/3 bed terrace property empty has been estimated as between £8,638 and £10,438 per 

Pack Page 24



Page 3  

year1 This is money lost to the local economy where the owner is living, as well as money 

lost to the local economy of the area where the house is situated. 

Bringing empty homes back into use can help to tackle these problems and reverse trends 

towards depopulation in small communities. 

Q3:  How effectively are local authorities using the statutory and non-statutory tools at 

their disposal to deal with empty properties? 

                                                
1 https://www.no-use-empty.org.uk/newsletter-edition-no-8-10-years/ 

Our answer to this question considers the use of two funding tools available to local 

authorities in Scotland and comments on their effectiveness. 

The tools are the Empty Homes Loan Fund and the Rural and Islands Housing Fund.  

Empty Homes Loan Fund. The Scottish Government made available £4m for the Empty 

Homes Loan Fund in 2012. The fund aims to support a range of projects to bring empty 

homes back into use as affordable housing, with half of the fund particularly targeted at 

renovating empty homes in rural areas.  

The loan fund was awarded to 17 organisations.  The success of this tool has varied 

between local authorities in part due to the marketing of the scheme, however common 

issues that have emerged that limit the effectiveness of the loan fund as a tool have 

included;  The loan fund condition of letting the property at affordable rates is not 

attractive to a private owner in a strong rental market; The terms of the loan can 

discourage an application; The bureaucracy attached to the loan application;  Although 

the loan is interest free, legal fees and charges to administer the loan can make this 

finance option uncompetitive. 

The Rural and Islands Housing Fund (RIHF) opened in Spring 2016. The fund is made up of 

90% grant funding and the remainder in loan funding, which has made the fund more 

attractive to potential bidders, and also includes a feasibility funding element. The rolling 

element of the fund, as opposed to a strictly limited bidding window of a few weeks, has 

helped organisations to apply for the funding, as they are not often able to put a bid 

together quickly for a short bidding window.  

However, the 10k funding limit for the feasibility stage is arguably too low and doesn't 

reflect the amount of work needed, particularly for larger projects. Architects surveys and 

reports are one example of something that often can't be undertaken under current 

funding limits.   

The 75k per unit limit in the main fund is also something that prevents community groups 

from undertaking more ambitious projects, either involving multiple homes, large 

buildings, conversions, or buildings that are in strong states of disrepair. Instead it can 

mean that projects have to focus on smaller, easier to refurb properties, which don't have 

the same ambition of scale to make a real difference at a wider level. 

Pack Page 25



Page 4  

In both instances, the current funding limits mean that it is only really private companies 

that can access the fund for larger projects, as they can offset a lot of the associated costs 

that are outside the funding, from their general balance sheet and operating costs. For 

community groups they are either reliant on multiple sources of funding or on good will 

and people going the extra mile in addition to day jobs, which can often slow down 

progress even if projects are pursued. 

 

Q4: Do local authorities need additional statutory powers to deal with empty 

properties?  If yes, what powers do they need? 

In our 2018 Annual Survey, we asked empty homes officers how many ‘no hope’ cases 

they could identify where they believe the Council would use a CSO Power if available. 

From the responses we received, officers identified 102 cases that they would consider 

appropriate for a CSO. 

SEHP sends out an annual survey seeking views of key empty homes stakeholders and 

practitioner groups across Scotland on a variety of issues and practices in dealing with 

empty properties. A consistent theme in the feedback the Partnership has received from 

councils via our surveys and other means has been the desire for more empty homes 

enforcement tools in Scotland.  

The main enforcement measure that is currently available is the Compulsory Purchase 

Order (CPO). However, many councils have been reluctant to apply for CPOs because of 

concerns about both the cost, timescales and risks of pursuing a CPO. While we recognise 

efforts made by the Scottish Government to improve processing times once an 

application has been made for a CPO, there is still a very complex process that has to be 

followed before an application can be made. By its very nature, this means that a CPO can 

never be seen as a simple solution or a first choice option for a local authority, and will 

always be something that comes after other exhaustive attempts to engage the owner 

and bring the property back into use have failed. 

Where other attempts have failed, and the conditions for applying for a CPO have been 

satisfied, local authorities still need to consider whether they will be able to sell on the 

property or bring it back into use as social housing before making an application, and this 

can also mean that a CPO will not be a viable option. 

The main additional enforcement power that has been proposed by the Scottish 

Government, but not yet introduced, is the Compulsory Sale Order (CSO).  This power 

would be a new legal mechanism available to local authorities to require an empty home 

that has been vacant or derelict, for an undue period of time (as yet undecided), to be 

sold by public auction to the highest bidder. SEHP has been part of an expert advisory 

group to explore the opportunities and challenges that a new CSO power presents. We 

have found that the main advantage that CSOs are seen to provide over CPOs is that the 

local authority does not have to take ownership of the property, therefore the level of 

financial considerations involved in deciding whether to proceed are reduced accordingly.  

Pack Page 26



Page 5  

Q6: Is there sufficient awareness of the practical assistance that local authorities can 

offer to owners of empty properties?  If not, how could this be improved? 

We have not commented on this question as we do not feel we are suitably placed to 

comment on levels of awareness and methods used to raise awareness of practical 

assistance offered by local authorities in Wales.  

Q7:  Are the skills and resources of housing associations and the private sector being 

fully utilised to tackle empty properties? 

We have not commented on this question as we do not feel we are suitably placed to 

comment. 

Q8:    Is enough being done to ensure empty properties can be brought back into use as 

affordable homes?  Are there examples of good practice in this area? 

The strategies and approaches to dealing with empty homes vary across Scotland. Of 

particular note as examples of good practice we would draw the committee’s attention to 

Perth and Kinross. 

Perth & Kinross Council’s Empty Homes Initiative was initially launched in 2012 as a 

means to target the 900+ empty homes in Perth & Kinross. The scheme builds on a long 

standing relationship with private sector landlords offering an incentive to bring empty 

homes back into use as affordable housing.  Empty Homes Initiative Grants of up to 

£7,500 per bedroom are available to owners of long-term empty properties to bring them 

Q5:  Are owners of empty properties given the support, information and advice that 

they need to bring properties back into occupation?  If not, what additional help do 

they need? 

Whilst we cannot comment on the levels of support, information and advice that is given 

to owners of empty properties in Wales, experience in Scotland tells us that a dedicated 

empty homes officer is crucial in delivering an effective service to owners of empty 

properties and people concerned about empty properties in their communities.   

Since the establishment of the SEHP in 2010, 22 of Scotland’s 32 local authorities now 

have dedicated empty homes officers. Our ambition, over our current three-year plan 

which runs until 2021, is to see a dedicated empty homes officer in every local authority 

in Scotland. 

Our research shows that councils with a dedicated focus on empty homes, bring more 

properties back into use, in fact in 2017/18 95% of properties reported back into use 

were in areas where there is a dedicated Empty Homes Officer. 

Having a dedicated empty homes officer means that empty homes owners and members 

of the public concerned about empty homes in their area have a service they can contact 

for help and support in getting empty homes back into use. It also allows local authorities 

to develop strategies to deal with empty homes in their areas.  

Pack Page 27



Page 6  

up to the Repairing Standard and/or to undertake work which would be required to 

obtain an HMO License. On completion of the work there is a requirement for the 

property to be let at the Local Housing Allowance rate via Perth and Kinross Councils Rent 

bond guarantee scheme. As such the scheme not only tackles the issues associated with 

empty homes but also directly contributes to the supply of good quality affordable 

housing in the area. The success of the scheme has been clear to see in terms of the 

number of homes brought back into use and the number of households that have 

benefited from this affordable housing, preventing homelessness and the costs and 

disruption that would be associated with this. 

Additionally, several local authorities have adopted 'Buy-Back' schemes where empty 

homes are purchased by the council and used to provide valuable additions to affordable 

housing stock and address the mismatch between the demand from customers and the 

existing housing stock profile. 

One such example is North Lanarkshire, whose Empty Home Purchase Scheme has been 

developed to help address some of the issues faced by owners and communities in 

relation to such properties. 

The scheme buys privately owned properties that meet at least one of the following 

specific criteria: There is an identified need for the type and size of property and it is 

located in a high demand area; The purchase of the property would give the council 

complete ownership of a block and allow major common works to proceed, and; To meet 

the particular needs of a household which cannot be met from within the existing council 

stock. 

In addition; the following criteria needs to be met: The property must be sold with vacant 

possession and be empty at the time of application, and; The combined cost of 

purchasing and bringing the property up to SHQS letting standard represents value for 

money to the council. 

Following on from the success of the scheme, the council has now commenced a new 

open market purchase scheme, that will see up to 100 homes, many of which will be ex-

council properties, being bought each year to help meet peoples housing needs and 

increase local housing supply. 

The main criteria set against the purchase of homes on the open market would be: There 

is demand for the type and size of property in that area; The combined cost of buying the 

property and bringing it up to letting standards would represent value for money to the 

council; Where the purchase of a property will enable the council to take complete, or 

majority, ownership of blocks of flats making communal repairs much easier to complete, 

and Homes purchased would meet the particular needs of households not currently 

available in the council stock, e.g. homes suitable for people with disabilities.  

Schemes such as this may also help to reduce the number of homes becoming long term 

empty if they act as early intervention where properties may otherwise be difficult to sell 

or rent. 

Pack Page 28



Page 7  

 

Q9:  Is the power to charge a council tax premium on long-term empty homes a useful 

tool and is it being effectively used?  If not, how could this tool be made more 

effective? 

Where this tool is used effectively as a carrot and stick approach to encourage owners to 

bring homes back into use it can be very helpful as a means of tackling empty homes. 

However, as a blanket charge applied without discretion in individual cases it can have 

the opposite effect by adding to the financial hardship owners may be facing and further 

limiting the resources available to them to bring the property back to a condition where it 

may be suitable for sale or rent. 

 

Since 2013 Scottish Councils have had discretion to vary the council tax payable on 

unoccupied properties. Initially a discount of between 10% and 50% is required, but after 

a property is unoccupied for 12 months (or 24 months if being actively marketed for sale 

or let), an increase of up to 100% may be imposed to encourage owners to bring empty 

homes back into use. All councils are using these variation powers to some extent, and 

most are now using powers to increase council tax beyond 100%.  

The powers were introduced in The Council Tax (Variation for Unoccupied Dwellings) 

(Scotland) Regulations 2013 and are commonly referred to as ‘The Council Tax Levy’.  We 

feel that it is important that money generated by the levy is used to fund projects and 

initiatives that contribute to bringing empty homes back into use as part of overall work 

to increase housing supply and address the housing crisis in Scotland, rather than using 

the money to fund other commitments or make up for other budgetary shortfalls. Where 

the money is used towards this, local authorities are seen to be acting in the spirit of the 

legislation and working to actively tackle the problem of empty homes. 

Pack Page 29



Papur 2- No Use Empty: Kent Empty Property Initiative 

Paper 2- No Use Empty: Kent Empty Property Initiative 
 

 
 
 
 
Kent County Council – No Use Empty: Kent Empty Property Initiative  

 
Overview  
 
Kent County Council (KCC) launched its ‘No Use Empty’ campaign in 2005 as part of its Public Sector Service 
Agreement (PSA2) targets, to examine better ways of delivering services, and particularly at working more 
effectively with district councils. The primary aim of the Initiative is to improve the physical urban 
environment in Kent by bringing empty properties back into use as quality housing accommodation.  
 
The initiative was originally focused on the towns of the four districts of Thanet, Dover, Shepway and 
Swale, as research has found that the majority of empty properties (over 3,000) are located within these 
four districts. Additionally, 19 of the 20 most deprived wards are also located within these same areas.  
 
In January 2008, due to the success of the scheme Kent County Council expanded the initiative to include 
all 12 district councils in the county.  
 

Objectives  

 
Overall the aim of the initiative has been to substantially increase the number of long-term empty homes 
returned to use as good quality housing accommodation. A specific numerical target to return 372 empty 

properties to use over three years was set, which represented a doubling of previous targets. This was to 
be achieved through the development of new and innovative practice and improved partnership working. 

The total of 487 properties was achieved in the three-year period, which was a 262% increase on previous 
performance prior to the Initiative commencing.  

 
Setting up the Scheme  
 
Prior to the launch of the Initiative a large amount of research was undertaken to:  

 Identify the location of the empty properties through an empty property condition survey in the 
four districts to establish their condition and likely costs for refurbishment;  

 Business and local resident’s perceptions survey 

 Appointment of PR and media company to raise and promote the profile of the initiative 

 Development of No Use Empty Campaign and associated website 

 Appointment through competitive tendering, a specialist private sector housing company to work 
with the Districts 

 Research and develop the full range of options available (in conjunction with the Empty Homes 
Agency) to help bring these properties back into use; and   

 To establish what help and assistance would encourage owners to return their properties back 
into use.  

 
 

Pack Page 30



2 

 

Using this research, the Initiative developed a project plan that focussed on the following to achieve the 
aim and objectives of the project:  
 

 An awareness campaign to highlight the issue of empty homes to be targeted at owners and the 
wider community;  

 The development of an information resource for owners, residents, and anyone else with an 
interest in empty properties. This led to the creation of the No Use Empty web site www.no-use-
empty.org and the production of regular newsletters. The website offers the ability to report 
empty properties Kent wide and there is a dedicated “Hotline” 

 Financial support to encourage owners to refurbish and bring their properties back into use;  

 Training for empty property officers and other local authority personnel involved in this work e.g. 
solicitors, planners, environmental health officers, building control on the enforcement options; 
and  

 Practical one-to-one on the ground guidance for empty property officers / local authority staff 
provided by the project consultant. Enabling them to utilise the full range of legislative options 
and wider mechanisms / methods to bring empty homes back into use.  

 
Additionally, a residents' and business survey was undertaken to gauge the impact of empty properties 
on residents’ and business confidence in their locality. A follow-up survey was undertaken in Summer 
2008, which demonstrated a clear increase in business and resident confidence. The Initiative undertook 
a series of events where empty property owners were invited, to launch the Initiative and outline the 
assistance available.   
 
Regular empty property surgeries are undertaken to encourage owners of empty properties to bring their 
properties back into use. A broad range of advice and guidance is available including guidance on reduced 
vat schemes and tax strategies, reduced auctioneer fees and advice on securing builders. In addition, 
guidance on securing planning permission included permitted development rights is provided, where 
appropriate. 
 
The Initiative initially developed three strands of financial assistance to use its capital funding (£6 million) 
to encourage the re-use of empty properties.  These are as follows:  
 

Interest Free Loan Scheme – loans are available to help owners / developers to refurbish or convert empty 
homes or redundant commercial buildings to provide good quality residential accommodation. On 
completion properties must be made available for sale or rent. The loan fund is operated as a revolving 

fund, so that as loans are repaid, the money is then re-lent to support new schemes. Max £25K per unit, 
max £175K per applicant, secured as 1st or 2nd charge based on a maximum 80% LTV (loan to value) on the 

property offered as security.  
 

Partnership Fund – funding available to help the Districts undertake enforcement where deemed 
necessary e.g. Compulsory Purchase Orders (CPO), Empty Dwelling Management Orders (EDMO), works 
in default or direct purchase. District Councils have extensive powers to deal with run down empty 
properties but often lack both financial resources and personnel or knowledge to effectively utilise these 
powers.  

 
Direct Purchase Scheme – involving the acquisition of empty properties by KCC for redevelopment into 

good quality housing accommodation.  

Pack Page 31

http://www.no-use-empty.org/
http://www.no-use-empty.org/


3 

 

Other Financial Products 

 
Since inception of the scheme, a range of other financial products have been developed to encourage 
regeneration and to maximise all opportunities to attract additional funding. 
 
Top up Loans - A number of local authorities (Tunbridge Wells Borough Council, Dover District Council and 
Folkestone-Hythe District Council) have provided top up funding to support the existing scheme. This 
enables applicants to apply for loans up to £40K per unit, towards the cost of larger or more complex 
schemes. The funding is provided to and administered by Kent County Council (charge in KCC name), with 
a partnership agreement between KCC and the individual local authorities. This ensures that the applicant 
only has to deal with a single point of contact and simplifies the legal process.  
 
Interest Bearing Loans - Where an applicant has previously benefited from interest free loans and wish 
to receive further support from the scheme. Then they are moved to an interest-bearing loan on a 
commercial basis (4-6%). The maximum loan amount and level of interest charged is dependent on the 
individual circumstances of the project and level of risk. This approach may also be used in relation to key 
schemes, where a combination of interest free and interest-bearing loans is provided. 
 
Commercial Properties  - Interest free loans are also available to help deal with long term empty shops / 
commercial properties or mixed developments. Where a whole property approach is taken rather than 
just concentrating on the potential residential element. This is to encourage wider regeneration 
particularly targeted at local high streets.  This funding is part funded by the South East Local Enterprise 
Partnership (SELEP) with match funding from KCC, this is in the form of a loan which must be repaid to 
SELEP in the next few years.   
 
Affordable Housing Product - In 2012, KCC launched an Affordable Housing loan scheme which had a 
Capital fund of £2 million. The scheme was jointly funded by KCC and the Homes & Community Agency. 
KCC worked in partnership with Amicus Horizon, who manage the refurbished properties on behalf of the 
owners for a 5-year period, providing a guaranteed monthly rental income (affordable rent – 80% market 
rent).  It returned 42 affordable units by March 2015 and continues to be recycled to provide additional 
affordable homes. NUE are continuing to support Affordable Homes projects without HCA funding.  
 
Thanet District Council (Owner Occupier Loans) - Thanet District Council in partnership with KCC (KCC 
administer the scheme on their behalf) can provide interest free loans up to 20K, repayable over a 
maximum period of 10 years. It is only available to owner occupiers buying long term empty homes, where 
there are renovation works required. The product is only available in the central wards and is to encourage 
more owner occupation into an area with a high concentration of rented accommodation. The loan 
requires the applicant to live in the property as their principal home for a minimum of 5 years.  This 
scheme complements other regeneration initiatives. 

 
Resources 

 
The Initiative is delivered by the Empty Property team - this is made up of the KCC programme manager, 
KCC project officer, private sector consultant and the district empty property officers (predominantly part 
time Officers). This team operates as a "virtual team” as they are not employed by one body and work 
from different locations.  Additional resources are provided by KCC's legal services dept. and its property 
group as and when required. Support is also provided to the team for its communication strategy by the 
PR firm engaged specifically for the Initiative. This element of the works has now been taken in house. 

Pack Page 32



4 

 

 
The main funding for the Initiative, both revenue and capital has been provided by KCC. The scheme had 
a capital funding of £5million (Capital & Prudential Borrowing). This has further been supported by the 
reward grant through the PSA agreement, funding from Homes and Community Agency and South East 
Local Enterprise Partnership (loan), where KCC has provided match funding. 
 
The districts have provided "in-kind" support through the involvement by their empty property officers 
and other staff.   

 
Evaluation  
 
The success of the project has been measured by the tangible results achieved through the number of 
empty homes brought back into use, which amounted to 487 properties in the first three-year period. In 
total, since its inception the scheme has brought back into use over 6,000 empty properties (up to June 
2019). 
 
The scheme has approved over £29.8 million of loans, which equates to 1,010 units of accommodation. 
This has leveraged in excess of £30 million of private sector funding (owner’s contribution), giving a total 
investment through the loan scheme of £59.8 million (up to June 2019). 
 

 The average cost to renovate a unit = £55.9k (often very worst properties) 

 KCC average investment per unit £26k (excludes Affordable Homes Project) 

 Actual cost to KCC = £2,866 per unit (loss of interest and management costs) 

 Repayment of loans to date £19.5 million 

 Loan scheme has created over 983 jobs & homes for approximately 2,221 people 

 For each £1 spent on interest and administration, this translates to £20.63 being spent in local 
economy (labour & materials) 

 Attracted over £10.5 million in New Homes Bonus across Kent  

 Created 725 new residential units and increased Council Tax receipts by an additional £730K per 
annum. 
 

It is estimated that the initiative in returning 6,000 empty homes back into use through the broad range 
of interventions, has resulted in an overall investment of £80 million in Kent. In addition, it has helped to 
recover in excess of £500,000 in stagnant debts or debts created by works being done in default.  
 
The completed business and resident survey demonstrated an increase in confidence in localities as a 
result of bringing empty properties back into use. No Use Empty is widely regarded as one of the most 
effective initiatives to deal with empty properties in the UK. The scheme and their partners have won 
multiple awards from Regeneration & Renewal for their partnership working 2011, shortlisted for an 
award by the Chartered Institute of Housing in 2012 and won Regeneration and Renewal Awards in 2014 
(Partnership Working).  Highly commended twice in 2015 LGC Awards for partnership working and best 
housing initiative. Winners of the ‘outstanding approach to regeneration’ in UK Housing Awards 2018. 
 
In partnership with Bristol City Council, the No Use Empty Initiative brand was rolled out to the West of 
England Local Authorities and the NUE Scheme provides support to other local authorities. 
 

Pack Page 33



5 

 

The Audit Commission cited the scheme as good practice to other Local Authorities and has been 
recognised by a number of Government’s and the Empty Homes Charity as a beacon of good practice.  
 
The Empty Property Initiative has been incorporated into KCC's Housing Strategy as a target to support its 
joint wider regeneration projects within the partner districts and increase housing provision and quality. 
Specifically, the Initiative has linked with these regeneration projects to identify key properties to target 
for action. All districts had an empty property strategy in place prior to the commencement of the project. 
The Initiative has contributed to the aims and objectives of these strategies and increased the numbers 
of empty properties that have been brought back into use and regeneration of the areas.  
 

Lessons Learnt  
 
The main lessons learnt from establishing the project were firstly, an awareness of the time taken to 
develop this type of Initiative. Although not overly complex bringing together the resources, information 
and personnel required took much longer than originally anticipated and there was a time lag between 
the launch and the availability of the main financial funding. Good customer care was essential to keep 
clients informed of progress (or lack at times) to keep them on board.  
 
The lack of resources at District level to undertake empty property work – both in terms of personnel and 
financial was a limiting factor. The provision of the capital funding by KCC has in the main overcome the 
issue of financial resources, but manpower remains an issue. Only two of the districts have dedicated 
empty property officers (and to some extent the numbers returned to use by the individual districts reflect 
this situation). For the other districts empty property work is just one of a number of tasks undertaken by 
person allocated with this role.  
 
Initially, there was a lack of a corporate approach to the problem of empty properties, which resulted in 
Councils dealing with the issue in a piecemeal fashion. There was also a lack of understanding of the 
overall picture and the methods available to deal with empty properties. Creating a change in culture has 
facilitated a more positive approach to the problem.  
 
The importance of training both for personnel directly involved in empty property work and for 
departments that can contribute to this area of work e.g. legal, building control, environmental health 
and planning cannot be understated. For departments that contribute a “supporting” role an increased 
awareness and knowledge has brought about an increased level of support for empty property work, 
which is helping to tackle particularly difficult cases.  
 
Shared learning has brought about an increasingly improved level of skills and knowledge, which are being 
effectively utilised in empty property work. Low cost or free training has been provided to over 1,300 
officers through the initiative, on a wide range of issues. One aspect that has proved invaluable has been 
the services of the project consultant, who has provided ground support and practical training and 
implementation on the use of the wide-ranging legislation. This resource has enabled the very worst 
properties to be prioritised and effectively dealt with. 
 
P.R. and communications, throughout the project we have achieved wide coverage both nationally and 
locally, including television, radio, national and local press. This has not only achieved a strong brand name 
in the partner districts, but has also created a ripple effect within the County and beyond through 
publishing our successes. This has resulted in owners becoming more open to constructive dialogue with 
the Councils, knowing that they are prepared to follow through with enforcement. 

Pack Page 34



6 

 

 
Contact Details 
 
Steve Grimshaw, Programme Manager, Kent County Council 
 
Andrew Lavender, Project Consultant, Kent County Council  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 35



7 

 

 

P
ack P

age 36



Papur 3- Action on Empty Homes 
Paper 3- Action on Empty Homes

Introduction to Action on Empty Homes 

Action on Empty Homes campaigns for empty homes to be brought into use for 
people in housing need. Our aims are to: 

• Raise awareness of the waste of long-term empty homes.

• Campaign for changes to national policy.

• Support local communities in transforming their neighbourhoods.

• Provide advice for those seeking to bring empty homes back into use.

• Research and develop ideas for bringing long-term empty homes back into
use for those in housing need

We recognise that we mainly focus on empty homes in England however we 
believe certain aspects of our current work may be of interest to the National 
Assembly for Wales and could provide valuable evidence to the Equality, Local 
Government and Communities Committee Inquiry into Empty Homes.  

Our Evidence 

Our evidence will primarily address Question 2 only, as it refers to the impact of of 
empty homes for communities. We hope our response to Question 2 will also help 
to inform Question 8 concerning delivery of affordable housing from empty homes, 
as we show how community-based approaches to bringing empty homes into use 
help to deliver secure affordable housing for local people. 

In providing evidence we draw on our recent report ‘Community action on empty 
homes – Using empty homes to regenerate communities’, details of which are 
outlined in our response to Question 2, also applicable to Question 8. 

We have one comment to make in response to Question 9.  Is the power to charge 
a council tax premium on long-term empty homes a useful tool and is it being 
effectively used?  If not, how could this tool be made more effective?

Inquiry Question 2    

What impact can empty properties have on a community? 

1. Impacts for communities

Pack Page 37



 

Many councils rely on a casework approach to bringing empty homes into use, 
addressing individual properties using persuasion and their statutory powers to 
cajole or force owners to take remedial action. Although they make steady 
progress, the individual casework approach misses something we believe to be 
of urgent concern: the pernicious impact on communities of living in areas with 
high levels of long-term empty homes. The impact is widely recognised. The 
House of Commons Briefing Paper ‘Empty Housing (England)’ published in June 
2018 states: 

 
 “High levels of empty properties are recognised as having a serious impact on 
the viability of communities... As the number of empty properties within an area 
increases, so can the incidence of vandalism, which acts as a further 
disincentive to occupation….This spiral of decline can continue as further 
households are deterred from moving into an area devoid of amenities, and 
where empty property and derelict shops add to a sense of neglect.”1  

 
Communities can become trapped in a cycle of decline. This has significant 
implications for their residents’ physical and mental health, educational 
achievement and access to work. A recent report from the Human City Institute, 
“The Power of Place: Health Inequalities, Housing and Community in the West 
Midlands Conurbation”2, is just one quality research document of many to 
demonstrate the link between area deprivation and life-impacting inequalities. It 
is time to broaden our vision, to see not just the empty homes but the effect 
they have on those living near them and on those who need decent secure 
housing and a chance to thrive. 

 
Engaging & Rebuilding Communities  
Supported by Esmée Fairbairn Foundation, Action on Empty Homes has 
undertaken a three-year project to look at an approach to bringing empty homes 
into use that ensures the process of renovation itself is a vehicle for engaging 
and rebuilding communities, for developing skills and confidence, supporting 
vulnerable and excluded households, and by doing so addressing, in a lasting 
way, the underlying issues, breaking the cycle of decline.  

 
In our report – “Community action on empty homes – Using empty homes to 
regenerate communities” – we share our learning from studying six 
demonstration projects, each at different stages of development but all 
employing community-based approaches to bringing empty homes into use.  All 
the projects provide work experience and training for local people with diverse 
needs as integral to the process of renovating empty homes to deliver affordable 
housing. We aim to encourage others to form community-based partnerships, to 
bring empty homes into use for local people and through doing so to help 
address the persistent underlying issues that keep people locked into poor 
housing and locked out of a safe, secure and affordable home.  

 

                                                           
1  House of Commons Library Briefing Paper Number 3012, 13 June 2018 Empty Housing (England) By Wendy 
Wilson Hannah Cromarty Cassie Barton 
 
2  Human City Institute The Power of Place: Health Inequalities, Housing and Community in the West Midlands 
Conurbation, March 2019 https://humancityinstitute.com/reports 

Pack Page 38



 

2. Combatting a spiral of reactive spend 
Our community-based approaches project has highlighted that as well as locking 
communities into a spiral of decline, areas with concentrations of empty homes 
can trap local authorities and other public services into a spiral of reactive spend.  

 
Reactive spend occurs when:  

• Local authorities act to address fly-tipping and statutory nuisance  

• Police services respond to vandalism, antisocial behaviour (ASB) and 
substance misuse  

• Fire services respond to arson  

• Health services manage and treat poor physical and mental health. 
 

The impacts – the costs and risks – of homes standing empty are largely 
shouldered by local people and local public services. Reactive spend is public 
spend.  

 
In reality, the home-owner is responsible for the property. We think this balance 
of spend is wrong and believe a review is overdue of where responsibility for the 
cost of empty homes should lie. We think public funding should be focused on 
investment in communities to make use of empty homes to meet their need for 
secure affordable housing, for providing work and training, for rebuilding 
community networks, fostering resilience and supporting opportunities for 
change and growth. This investment approach would provide better ‘value for 
money’ and help to reduce the amount of public funding currently pouring into 
reactive spend. 

 
3.  A Solution - Community action on empty homes 

This is a link to our report: “Community action on empty homes – Using empty 
homes to regenerate communities” 

 
https://www.actiononemptyhomes.org/publications-and-research 

 
The Report is on the Action on Empty Homes website3 and is free to download. 
It has 38 pages and contains short summary tables of research data, and 
photographs of communities at work bringing empty homes into use.  There are 
broadly three sections:  

 
a) What communities can achieve 
b) A description of the six projects we followed 
c) Achieving change through community action on empty homes 

 
a) ‘What communities can achieve’ sets out the case for collaboration with and 

investment in communities to bring empty homes into use. There are summary 
tables to show, for example: 
 

i. How many empty homes were brought into use over the three-year 
period (65), and how much funding was levered into communities to 

                                                           
3 Action on Empty Homes:  https://www.actiononemptyhomes.org  

Pack Page 39

https://www.actiononemptyhomes.org/publications-and-research
https://www.actiononemptyhomes.org/


 

create affordable homes, funding that would otherwise have been 
unavailable (£3.09m) 

 
ii. How many local people received vocational training (644), and of these 

how many went on into employment or further education (21.1%). 
 

iii. How many local people felt safer and more included in the community 
(1,017), how many moved into an affordable home (108) and how many 
people received tenancy support (82).  

 
b) The description of the six projects we followed explains how the community 

groups started to work in empty homes and their objectives, the area they work 
in, and the way they bring empty homes into use. Each project is at a different 
stage of development.  Sincil Community Land Trust (CLT) in Lincoln is still 
forming while Giroscope in West Hull has been operating since 1986.  

 
Each community group works with local people. Cultures Community Interest 
Company (CIC) in Stockton-on-Tees works with new entrants to the UK, another, 
Methodist Action North West works in Darwen with young people to prevent 
homelessness. Groundwork in Rochdale works with long-term unemployed 
people and is renovating a disused manor house to provide affordable homes for 
ex-service personnel. North Ormesby Community Land Trust is neighbourhood 
based and delivers affordable housing from empty homes for people with diverse 
needs including mental health needs. Working closely with statutory services, 
Giroscope provides work experience and training for ex-offenders and people in 
recovery to deliver affordable homes for people in housing need. 
 
The community projects also promote and support local community 
enterprise. Giroscope in West Hull has converted empty properties to provide a 
local business hub with workspaces, a community café, a bicycle repair scheme 
and a training centre. North Ormesby Community Land Trust has established a 
social lettings agency and as well as managing its own homes provides 
management services for private sector landlords. They also run the local 
market, have a shop and advice centre, a child-care service and provide free 
broadband in their own properties. Cultures Community Interest Company 
provides English language tutoring, has set up a gardening enterprise which 
grows food and makes wooden planters and has an annual food and music 
festival.  
 
The description of the projects helps to demonstrate how much communities can 
return on investment made in them, we believe this is because they are best 
placed to understand what needs to be done and to do it, in collaboration with 
partners and other agencies.  

  
c) Achieving change through community action on empty homes. Although 

each community project we followed is unique, we looked at the barriers 
commonly faced by community-based projects and at how these could be 
overcome. This part of the report provides an overview of the challenges 
inherent in community action on empty homes and shows how local authorities, 

Pack Page 40



 

funders, housing associations and communities can work together to achieve 
change.  This includes: 

 
i. Seeing the whole picture from a community perspective, not just the empty 

homes. This involves seeing empty homes as not just a housing issues but 
one which is fundamentally about people: the place they live in, their 
aspirations and needs; and the delivery of secure affordable homes  

ii. Investing in and supporting communities rather than reacting to problems 
with fragmented spending, to resolve issues in partnership and collaboration. 
 

iii. Getting strategies, policies and practices aligned to deliver coherent multi-
services outcomes rather than focussing on divisional targets. For example, 
working with communities to renovate empty homes as shared housing for 
looked after young people can provide secure supported independence 
while saving significant spending on residential care.  
 

iv. Recognising that capital works are revenue led.  People bring empty homes 
into use. We ask that funders review the revenue implications associated 
with capital funding and either consider incorporating a percentage of 
revenue to support delivery, or partner with another funder better able to 
provide revenue funding. 
 

v. Partnering funding. We found that many funding bodies work in isolation and 
allocate funding directly in line with their own priorities and target groups.  
Looking across the funding sector, there are many parallel streams where 
funding is focussed on specific needs or specific activities, coexisting but not 
collaborating. Funding can achieve more as part of a jigsaw than as an 
individual piece.  
 

 4. Summary 
 The evidence provided by Action on Empty Homes in response to Inquiry 

Question 2 is intended to show that empty homes can have significant adverse 
impacts for communities.  

 
However, communities can be a key part of the solution: 
 

• acting to address a broad range of underlying issues,  

• providing work experience and training for local people and  

• delivering secure affordable housing for people in housing need.  
 
Inquiry Question 9.   
Is the power to charge a council tax premium on long-term empty homes a 
useful tool and is it being effectively used?  If not, how could this tool be made 
more effective? 
 

Yes, it can be a useful tool, but we’d like to highlight the impact of council tax 
charges on empty homes awaiting refurbishment by communities.   
 
Each of the community-based projects we followed reported the additional 
burden of cost arising from Council Tax levied on empty homes awaiting 

Pack Page 41



 

refurbishment and awaiting letting. Community-based schemes bringing empty 
homes into use while offering training and work experience and providing 
engagement opportunities for local or vulnerable people should be recognised 
for delivering community benefit. While we support the council tax premium on 
long-term empty homes, we call on local authorities to exempt empty homes 
owned or leased by community-based organisations from Council Tax until they 
are occupied.  

Pack Page 42



Papur 4-  E,ON
Paper 4-  E,ON
 

E.O N response to the inquiry into empty homes

• E.ON is one of the UK’s leading power and gas companies and part of the E.ON group, one of
the world’s largest investor-owned power and gas companies.

• We are committed to helping people control their energy use and to deliver affordable
energy for them in a sustainable way. Clear, ambitious and coordinated policies are
required to successfully tackle fuel poverty and energy efficiency; we believe empty homes
has a role to play in the long-term term, sustainable solution to fuel poverty and
homelessness.

• E.ON’s Empty Homes programme was established two years ago and is led by our internal
Housing Solutions team. E.ON works with local authorities to identify empty home owners
and offer a one-to-one service to support the homeowner to get the property back into use.
The aim is to offer a simple solution to the customer, local authority and empty home
owner.

Question 1 

Is enough being done to tackle empty properties in Wales? If not, what needs to change? 

1. In our experience we believe that combining best practice from tried and tested models
throughout the UK with services designed in conjunction with empty home owners have the
greatest opportunity to bring large volumes of empty homes back into use and reduce the
impact empty homes have on local communities.

2. Raising awareness about the issues faced by all stakeholders and the support available to
empty home owners is crucial. As the latest Welsh Government statistics show, all 22
Councils have a significant number of long-term empty homes1. Whilst we support local
initiatives to tackle specific problems, we believe the development of a centralised and
coordinated approach to help identify and tackle empty homes would deliver significant
efficiencies. This would not only increase the internal resources available to local authorities
but would also increase private sector investment by improving economies of scale for the
interventions required to bring empty homes back into use.

3. E.ON therefore believes a Welsh Empty Homes Centre of Excellence, involving a number of
different organisations, can co-ordinate the effort and resources needed to bring a large
number of empty homes back into use. It would be responsible for creating services and
propositions that all empty home owners and local authorities across Wales could access.
The Centre of Excellence could be funded through a combination of Welsh Government
funds, Council Tax premiums, Energy Company Obligation (ECO) funds and Corporate Social
Responsibility funding pots from the businesses that would directly and indirectly benefit
from the works carried out. It would enable the launch of a sustainable long-term solution

Pack Page 42



1 https://gov.wales/docs/statistics/2019/190117-council-tax-dwellings-2019-20-en.pdf 

2 

in Wales, that keeps the onus on the empty property owners whilst enabling them to bring 
their property back into use; an example of a similar, successful scheme in England is Kent’s 
No Use Empty scheme2. 

4. So far, 50% of Welsh County Councils having introduced the empty homes premium3,
making the premium mandatory across all Councils could significantly increasing the funding
available.  It is vital that relevant legislation is in place to ensure that all monies raised by
the premium is reinvested in tackling empty homes.

5. In our experience, the issues faced by empty homes owners are diverse and often complex.
In some cases, financial assistance via an empty homes premium or other funding such as
ECO will provide enough of an incentive for the empty home owner to act. In other
examples, such as empty home owners with mental health problems, the barriers to act can
be more difficult to overcome. Councils need to focus on having the right services in place
to help vulnerable empty home owners bring their property back into use through
encouragement, advice and support. Greater legislation and stricter guidance to avoid
unintended consequences of the council tax premium would again be welcomed.

6. We have received anecdotal evidence from Empty Homes Officers that, when a premium is
introduced without support services, that they initially see a drop in the long-term empty
homes numbers but this is not sustained in the long-term therefore the premium alone is
not a solution.

Question 2 

What impact can empty properties have on a community? 

7. Empty properties can have a negative impact on communities, attracting anti-social
behaviour, vandalism, arson, fly-tipping and squatting in some cases. They impact the look
and feel of the overall community, leading to a decline in property values in neighboring
properties and communities feeling less safe. The broader impact of empty homes should
be considered alongside community wellbeing.

8. E.ON’s interest in empty homes began during our work on a community energy efficiency
scheme in Nottingham. E.ON installed efficiency measures in over 600 properties on a single
housing estate, unfortunately there were 3 long-term empty homes that we were unable to
treat. The local authority, other residents and the E.ON energy efficiency team could all see
that making these homes energy efficient and habitable would greatly benefit the
community but without engagement from the owners we were unable to act.

9. Action on Empty Homes is a UK organisation with years of research and lobbying experience
in the empty homes sector, they note that ‘areas with concentrations of empty homes can
trap local authorities and other public services into a spiral of reactive spend and lock
communities into a spiral of decline’. They identify that ‘reactive spend occurs when Local
authorities act to address fly-tipping and statutory nuisance, Police services respond to

Pack Page 43

https://gov.wales/docs/statistics/2019/190117-council-tax-dwellings-2019-20-en.pdf


3 

vandalism, antisocial behavior (ASB) and substance misuse, Fire Services respond to arson, 
Health Services manage and treat poor physical and mental health. The effect of this is that 
the impacts – the costs and risks – of homes standing empty are largely shouldered by local 
people and local public services’4. 

Question 3 

How effectively are local authorities using the statutory and non-statutory tools at their disposal 

to deal with empty properties? 

10. We believe others are better placed to comment on the current effectiveness of the
individual local authorities and their approach to empty homes. Nationally, we believe that
the problem of long-term empty homes should be targeted in four ways to ensure that the
right support services are utilised effectively:

(a) Long term empty properties (empty for more than 6 months) - Encouragement, advice,

support and incentives are key to tackling long-term empty properties. We suggest a

casework approach that offers face to face and telephone consultation for the empty home

owner would yield the greatest results. In addition to this, enforcement action through

Empty Dwelling Management Orders (EDMOs) and Compulsory Purchase Orders (CPOs)

should be used where a softer approach proves ineffective.

(b) 0-6 months void properties - Services which reduce the number of homes moving into

the long term empty bracket such as support with property maintenance, refurbishment and

energy efficiency improvements can help future-proof properties to avoid them falling into

disrepair.

(c) Empty homes prevention – We believe investment in empty homes prevention is more

cost-effective than bringing empty homes back in use and will provide wider benefits to the

local authority, tenants, landlords and the community as a whole. Identifying ways to

support home owners or tenants to maintain their home and access personal support to live

at home safely and comfortably will reduce the number of homes falling into disrepair and

becoming empty.

North Derbyshire Council run a programme that supports landlords who are considering 

evicting their tenant. The ‘Call Before You Serve’ programme provides intervention and 

mediation for the landlord as well as enhanced tenant support services. Support services for 

tenants include a range of interventions linked with maximising the likelihood of successfully 

sustaining their tenancy – benefit maximisation & entitlement checks, debt & budgeting 

advice, case worker visits, education and links with community groups and social groups. 

4 https://www.actiononemptyhomes.org/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=ee3e040f-2cbf-461a-b680-4024d2193df6 

Pack Page 44

https://www.actiononemptyhomes.org/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=ee3e040f-2cbf-461a-b680-4024d2193df6


5
 https://www.actiononemptyhomes.org/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=ee3e040f-2cbf-461a-b680-4024d2193df6 

4 

Successful interventions at this stage can save emergency and temporary accommodation 

costs and reduce disruption for landlord and tenant, deescalating a distressing and costly 

experience for all involved. 

(d) Target areas with a high concentration of empty homes - Typically, areas with high

numbers of empty homes are also areas within the bottom 25% of the Index of Multiple

Deprivation, these areas will have high numbers of private renters and significant churn of

tenancies. We fully endorse Action on Empty Homes’ community approach as a long-term

and sustainable way to kickstart area regeneration5.

Question 4 

Do local authorities need additional statutory powers to deal with empty properties? If yes, what 

powers do they need? 

11. As stated in our response to question one, we believe the empty homes premium should be
introduced by all local authorities and this should be supported by legislation which ensure
funds from the premium are directed towards tackling the empty homes problem. A secure
income stream tackling empty homes across all local authorities in Wales would allow the
Welsh Government to introduce mandatory legislation which compels empty home owners
to take action on their property.

12. In addition to local authority powers we believe a small change to the ECO regulations
concerning the occupancy rules could result in empty home owners having access to funds
for energy efficiency works whilst the property undergoing standard renovations. The
current regulations state there must be evidence the property is occupied before works are
undertaken, this currently prevents empty home owners from accessing ECO funding.

Question 5 

Are owners of empty properties given the support, information and advice that they need to bring 

properties back into occupation? If not, what additional help do they need? 

13. In our experience the most effective way of tackling long term empty homes is by
encouraging empty home owners to bring their properties back into use through advice,
guidance and easy access to trusted supply chains and finance solutions.

Question 6 

Is there sufficient awareness of the practical assistance that local authorities can offer to owners 

of empty properties? If not, how could this be improved? 

Pack Page 45

https://www.actiononemptyhomes.org/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=ee3e040f-2cbf-461a-b680-4024d2193df6


6
 https://www.actiononemptyhomes.org/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=ee3e040f-2cbf-461a-b680-4024d2193df6 

5 

14. We believe others are better placed to comment on the current effectiveness of the
individual local authorities, however the establishment of a Welsh Empty Homes Centre of
Excellence would enable resources to be pooled and help drive national awareness of the
issues and support available.

Question 7 

Are the skills and resources of housing associations and the private sector being fully utilised to 

tackle empty properties? 

15. We believe that the necessary skills, across many sectors, are available to tackle the empty
homes problem. Our experience, with empty homes and other initiatives such as ECO, is
that many local authorities lack sufficient amounts of funding needed to establish empty
homes projects or leverage sufficient private sector funding.

Question 8 

Is enough being done to ensure empty properties can be brought back into use as affordable 

homes? Are there examples of good practice in this area? 

16. We believe there are some examples of good practice, Action on Empty Homes include
demonstration projects in their recent report on using empty homes to regenerate
communities6, a number of these projects have resulted in additional affordable housing.
To a certain extent, the potential for bring empty homes back into use as affordable homes
will depend on the amount of investment needed per property and the market rate of rents
in a particular area. We therefore believe there is scope to build upon good practice in this
area but additional resources and subsidies will be needed to maximise the potential for
empty homes being brought back into use as affordable housing.

Question 9 

Is the power to charge a council tax premium on long-term empty homes a useful tool and is it 

being effectively used? If not, how could this tool be made more effective? 

17. Please see question 1.

Pack Page 46

https://www.actiononemptyhomes.org/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=ee3e040f-2cbf-461a-b680-4024d2193df6


Papur 5 - Shelter Cymru 
Paper 5 - Shelter Cymru 

29th May 2019 

Our vision 

Everyone in Wales should have a decent and affordable home: it is the foundation 

for the health and well-being of people and communities. 

Mission 

Shelter Cymru’s mission is to improve people’s lives through our advice and support 

services and through training, education and information work. Through our policy, 

research, campaigning and lobbying, we will help overcome the barriers that stand in 

the way of people in Wales having a decent affordable home. 

Values 

• Be independent and not compromised in any aspect of our work with people
in housing need.

• Work as equals with people in housing need, respect their needs, and help
them to take control of their lives.

• Constructively challenge to ensure people are properly assisted and to
improve good practice.

Introduction 

We welcome the opportunity to respond to this inquiry and are pleased to see 

attention brought to the issue of empty homes in Wales. With increasing levels of 

homelessness and housing instability and an ever growing need for secure, decent 

and affordable homes it is vital that we make full use of our invaluable housing stock 

in Wales. Empty properties in Wales could provide a much needed boost to current 

housing supply and play an important role in providing homes for people and 

improving communities and local environments in Wales.  

1. Is enough being done to tackle empty properties in Wales?  If not, what

needs to change?

In 2017-2018 there were 27,251 empty homes in Walesi. These are a home that 

have been vacant for a long period of time and does not include those that are empty 

pending a sale or tenant etc. 

Local authorities currently have powers and funds to tackle empty homes and bring 

Pack Page 47

Agenda Item 3



them back into use. There is however variance between las with Flintshire bringing 

33.3% of their empty houses back into use (293 homes in total) whereas Newport 

have only managed 1.3% (15) properties. 

Omitting Flintshire which is an anomaly in this data, and Pembrokeshire as there 

currently is no data, the average percentage of houses returned to las is 4.5% 

including Flintshire the average is still only 5.7%. 

More focus needs to be put on las that are not using their powers to decrease the 

number of empty homes in Wales, or more emphasis on the Houses to Homes grant, 

with some las not using this as much as they could or should. This might be 

achieved by simplifying or consolidating relevant legislation. 

Research and information gained from las that are using their powers effectively 

should be shared with the rest in order to establish best practice and improve the 

consistency of approaches across Wales.  

2. What impact can empty properties have on a community?

There is an extensive body of research that shows the negative impacts empty 

homes have upon communities.  Research also shows that reducing the number of 

derelict/ empty homes whilst increasing homes reduces offending rates, increases 

employment, reduces vandalism and anti-social behaviour, and improves the local 

environment. 

During research, consultation and engagement with clients, campaigners and 

participants Shelter Cymru often hear the frustration and confusion of people in 

perilous housing or homelessness situations at why there are so many empty homes 

in their area, why there isn’t being more done to tackle them and how unfair and 

shocking that is in a nation that has a housing crisis.  

Empty properties significantly undermine a number of aims of the Future 

Generations Act: 

• A prosperous Wales

• A more equal Wales

• A healthier Wales

• A Wales of cohesive communities

3. How effectively are local authorities using the statutory and non-statutory

tools at their disposal to deal with empty properties?

Pack Page 48



Evidence from Empty Home Officers across Wales suggests that Compulsory 

Purchase Orders (CPOs) and Empty Dwelling Management Orders (EDMOs) are 

massively underutilised by las in Wales. 

Explanations of this are often due to financial and time constraints faced by las and a 

lack of expertise and specialist officers to manage this work. This leads to las being 

risk averse when it comes to empty homes ownership. In the past three years 0 

EDMOs have been used and there have only been two CPOs. 

The Houses to Homes scheme has a variance in usage across las. Rhondda Cynon 

Taff gave 25 loans in the past 3 years whereas Monmouthshire failed to grant any 

loans despite having 728 empty homes. 

An issue with current statutory and non-statutory tools is that they require las and the 

community to have a clear plan for the future of the land or buildings use. However, 

that is not always clear and instead there is just a desire for the site to become of 

some productive value to the area.  

4. Do local authorities need additional statutory powers to deal with empty

properties?  If yes, what powers do they need?

Local authorities find current powers complicated and an option to overcome this 

could be to consolidate or simplify current relevant legislation. 

Rather than las needing more powers, they need the right powers in order to 

accomplish the huge task of tackling the rise of homelessness and empty homes.  

Another potential solution could be the introduction of a Compulsory Sales Order 

(CSO), as proposed by the Scottish Land Commission and partners could provide an 

alternative to CPOs or EDMOs. This mechanism offers a range of benefits that would 

enhance and encourage bringing empty homes in to use and the regeneration of 

communities. 

In contrast to the current system, there would be no need for the la or community to 

have a set plan in place for the land or property, something which is currently a 

barrier. Moreover, the la will not need to fund the purchase. Instead land or 

properties that have been vacant for 3 years can be sold at auction to the highest 

bidder. 

A CSO is more appropriate for smaller areas of land or buildings within or around 

existing settlements otherwise referred to as brown sites. The aim of this power is to 

bring redevelopment to small properties that are causing harm to communities, and 

not to penalise commercial investments.  

The proposal makes reference to research which shows that transferring land from a 

“passive owner” to an “active owner” is a pre-condition for bringing vacant/derelict 

Pack Page 49

https://landcommission.gov.scot/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/CSO-Proposal-final.pdf


land into productive use.  Land and property often remains vacant because the 

owner has unrealistic expectations about the value of the site.  The proposed CSO 

process would involve an auction, thus providing a mechanism for the true market 

price to be revealed. 

The proposal suggests that the real strength of CSOs is the role that they could play 

in facilitating dialogue with owners of problematic sites, therefore stimulating 

regeneration. 

A CSO could provide a final opportunity when all other attempts to bring the property 

back into a productive use for the community have failed. It offers a way for las to 

increase the number of homes in their area without having to spend considerable 

amounts of time and resources doing so.  

 

5.   Are owners of empty properties given the support, information and advice 

that they need to bring properties back into occupation?  If not, what 

additional help do they need? 

From Shelter Cymru’s research of the 22 LAs in Wales only 1 had carried out any 

research with homeowners. Many more LAs said that they have carried out “leaflet 

drops” to raise awareness of the options available to owners.  

One of the reasons many properties remain vacant for extended periods of time is 

because the owner over values the estimated value of the asset, and it remains 

unused in the hope that the value will increase in a more favourable financial climate. 

This is especially prevalent in more urban areas where vacant land does not change 

hands often to be able to better gauge their value. The auction process suggested 

within the CSO proposal would address this failure.  

However, in the current system there is an argument for a more pro-active approach 

towards this issue.  Once an owner has been given the information required, las 

should be more assertive in ensuring action is taken to force the sale, renovation or 

rental of a property.  

 

6.   Is there sufficient awareness of the practical assistance that local 

authorities can offer to owners of empty properties?  If not, how could this be 

improved? 

Continuing from Q5. There is more that las can do to provide information and 

assistance to owners of empty properties. There are also many challenges including 

resources and the political prioritisation of this issue that las need to overcome to 

provide this assistance. One of the 22 Welsh las has carried out research with empty 

home owners; the vast majority rely upon “leaflet drops” etc. to raise awareness of 

Pack Page 50



the options available to the owners. 

 

7.   Are the skills and resources of housing associations and the private sector 

being fully utilised to tackle empty properties? 

There is a limited amount Housing Associations and the private sector can do, as 

mentioned in previous sections (notably 1, 3, 4) there are issues with bringing empty 

properties back into a state where it can then be renovated and become useful to the 

community as a whole. 

The ending of Right to Buy alleviates some of the strain housing associations have in 

regards to supply, but there is a clear need to rapidly increase the availability of 

social housing in Wales. We would encourage and support Welsh Government to 

explore ways in which we can increase the number of empty homes being brought 

back into use as social housing.  

Bringing empty homes back into use could have wider benefits beyond the homes 

they provide. Initiatives such as the ones provided by United Welsh and Community 

Impact Initiative are providing not just homes for communities from empty properties 

but also skills and opportunities to the people within these same communities by 

offering apprenticeships, work experience and training in the trades used to bring a 

home back into use.  

The evaluation of the Houses to Homes scheme found that a large majority of 

redevelopments involved a local contractor, suggesting that the majority of 

expenditure bringing empty properties back into use would remain in and support the 

local economy. 

However, the evaluation also found that the majority of homes were going to be let to 

working families and the rental income would pay back the loan. This is obviously a 

positive result as homes are being provided, however, with the issues around 

security and affordability in the PRS it would be more favourable and sustainable to 

have these homes brought back into use by Social housing providers who can then 

provide long-term social homes.  

 

8.   Is enough being done to ensure empty properties can be brought back into 

use as affordable homes?  Are there examples of good practice in this area? 

There are examples of good practice from initiatives, but there is not enough 

consistency in the approach towards this issue across the Wales. 

United Welsh have brought many homes back in to use in the South Wales area, 

with Caerphilly, Cardiff and Blaenau Gwent seeing the most homes brought back into 

use. An expansion of their schemes across Wales would create further homes for 

Pack Page 51

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2018-12/151029-houses-into-homes-final-en.pdf


people across the country.  

The Community Impact Initiative provides opportunities for local people in Cardiff to 

develop skills and work experience as to develop further and provide a gateway into 

employment. Funded by Big-Lottery the scheme renovates empty properties, 

providing experience and a job for unemployed marginalised individuals while also 

turning an empty house into a liveable home. 

 

9.   Is the power to charge a council tax premium on long-term empty homes a 

useful tool and is it being effectively used?  If not, how could this tool be made 

more effective? 

Many LAs are considering a premium charge via council tax on long-term empty 

homes, there are currently 9 las that do not charge extra. 

There is a loophole that allows homeowners to change the statues of their property 

from a second home to a business. This applies more to second homes, but it allows 

owners to escape paying council tax at all, and also means they are under the 

corporation tax income threshold so do not have to pay anything to the UK gov for 

their “business” either.  There is a danger that owners of empty homes will re-

purpose their properties as second homes to benefit from this clause and escape the 

additional council tax charge. Welsh Government has the ability to change this. 

 However, it is also noted that in Gwynedd, which has a high proportion of second or 

holiday homes, that the additional 50% council tax charge will still cover more money 

than is lost through some homes changing to businesses. 

Despite this, Scotland (working with Shelter Scotland) has been running the premium 

charge since 2014 in some las charging 200% council tax on properties that have 

been empty for more than a year. As of September 2018 Scotland has managed to 

raise over £36 million additional revenue (£12 million alone in 2017).  

Effectiveness of the policy relies upon the las preparing adequately for the change, 

including creating a new team to help mitigate any problems homeowners may 

encounter.  

Council Tax Premium alone will not be enough, but in addition to other initiatives and 

schemes to bring empty homes into use it can be an effective incentive for owners to 

move their properties into being inhabited. 

 

                                                           
 

Pack Page 52



Papur 6 -Sefydliad Tai Siartredig
Paper 6 - CIH Cymru 

The Chartered Institute of Housing (CIH) is the independent voice for housing and the home 
of professional standards. Our goal is simple – to provide housing professionals with the 
advice, support and knowledge they need to be brilliant. CIH is a registered charity and not- 
for-profit organisation. This means that the money we make is put back into the organisation 
and funds the activities we carry out to support the housing sector. We have a diverse 
membership of people who work in both the public and private sectors, in 20 countries on five 
continents across the world. Further information is available at: www.cih.org 

In Wales, we aim to provide a professional and impartial voice for housing across all 
sectors to emphasise the particular context of housing in Wales and to work with 
organisations to identify housing solutions. 

Chartered Institute of Housing Cymru 
4 Purbeck House, Lambourne Crescent 
Cardiff Business Park, Llanishen 
Cardiff 
CF14 5GJ 

Tel: (029) 2076 5760 

Inquiry into empty 
properties 

CIH Cymru inquiry response 

Pack Page 53

http://www.cih.org/


2 

 
 

 

General Comments 
 

CIH Cymru welcomes the opportunity to provide a information to support the Equality, Local 
Government & Community committee as it undertakes its inquiry into empty properties in 
Wales. 

 
Our response is informed by feedback from our members, our knowledge of the housing 
industry and expertise from our policy and practice teams. 

 
CIH Cymru supports the development of Welsh policies, practices and legislation that aim to 
address the key housing challenges we face, to improve standards and supply, promote 
community cohesion, tackle poverty and promote equality. We promote a one housing system 
approach that: 

 

• places the delivery of additional affordable housing at the top of national, regional and 

local strategies as a primary method of tackling the housing crisis; 

 

• secures investment to ensure the high and sustainable quality of all homes in a 

sustainable framework; 

 
• improves standards and develops the consumer voice within the private rented sector 

 
• promotes the concept of housing led regeneration to capture the added value that housing 

brings in terms of economic, social and environmental outcomes; 

 

• recognises that meeting the housing needs of our communities is a key aspect of tackling 

inequality and poverty; 

 

• ensures that that there are properly resourced support services in place to prevent 

homelessness and protect the most vulnerable; 

 

• uses current and potential legislative and financial powers to intervene in housing markets 

and benefit schemes; 

 
• promotes consumer rights & tenant involvement; 

 

• and supports the continued professional development of housing practitioners. 

Pack Page 54



3 

 
 

 

1. Introduction 

 
1.1 Wales faces a significant challenge in meeting the demand for housing and bringing 

empty properties back into use is a vital part of the overall effort to increase access to 
housing. 

 

1.2 We welcome the Welsh Government’s commitment to delivering 20,000 affordable 
homes during this Assembly term, in addition to investment in other homeownership 
products such as help to buy, rent to own and shared ownership. The continued 
challenge of homes going unused potentially undermines the desire to ensure 
everyone has a safe, affordable place to call home. 

 
1.3 The Welsh Government has taken considerable steps to boost the supply of social 

housing stock in Wales. During the period between 2011-12 to 2015-16 a total of 
11,508 additional homes at social rent were built, which at the time exceeded the 
target of 10,000 set by the previous government. Supply was further bolstered during 
this period with a total of 10,948 long-term empty homes being brought back into use 
– this compared with a target of 5,000 during the same period. 

 
1.4 Empty homes serve as a physical blight within many communities, sometimes acting 

as a catalyst for vandalism and instances of anti-social behaviour. For those who 
own homes there are substantial advantages in bringing homes back into use. The 
quality of the home as an asset can be maintained and improved, the financial 
benefits of rental income or open market sale realised and negate the need of local 
authorities to progress costly enforcement measures. 

 
 

2. Impact on housing supply 
 

2.1 At a time when rough sleeping (and homelessness more broadly) is increasing, 
growing waiting lists for social housing and use of temporary accommodation are 
common features of our housing ecosystem there can be no doubting the existence 
of empty homes acts as a tangible reminder that increasing housing supply is not 
solely a matter of building new homes. Further to this, the presence of empty homes 
risks impacting public perceptions negatively in relation to people sleeping rough, or 
the broader challenges in meeting housing need in Wales. 

 
2.2 According to the latest Council Tax returns, there are around 25,000 empty homes in 

Wales1. The highest concentrations exist in Swansea, RCT and Carmarthenshire 
with the lowest concentrations in Anglesey and Wrexham. Figures have continued on 
an upward trajectory which suggests current measures are not effective enough to 
reduce the net amount of empty homes. 

 

2.3 Addressing the need for social and affordable homes continues to be a substantial 
challenge across Wales. The use of temporary accommodation in addressing those 
at risk of homelessness and challenges in obtaining and accessing sufficient land 
supply to build new affordable homes reflect two contemporary challenges that 
impact meeting immediate and longer-term housing need respectively. Empty homes 

 

 

1 https://gweddill.gov.wales/docs/statistics/2019/190117-council-tax-dwellings-2019-20-en.pdf 

Pack Page 55

https://gweddill.gov.wales/docs/statistics/2019/190117-council-tax-dwellings-2019-20-en.pdf


4 

 
 

 

however often offer an opportunity to add homes to the supply locally that are already 
within communities, with access to desirable social and transport infrastructure. 

 
 

3. Impact on communities and local authorities 
 

3.1 Our members report that establishing contacting owners often be a challenge in 
providing advice around options to bring properties back into use. Properties may 
become and remain empty for a wide range of reasons. Owners may live away, or 
inherit properties, or simply not have the financial resources available to complete the 
renovations required. Many of our members report that where relationships are 
brokered often positive outcomes are realised. 

 
3.2 Some of our members working within local authorities highlighted that the 

responsibility for empty properties often formed part of an individual’s overall role. 
Considering that in many authorities’ empty properties number at least a few hundred 
and in their highest concentrations a few thousand it seems that a lack of resource at 
a front-line level within some housing departments could be hampering efforts to 
bring empty properties back into use. 

 
3.3 One way some authorities have sought to overcome the lack of a dedicated resource 

is through raising the profile of empty homes as a corporate priority and establishing 
a dedicated group consisting of professionals from across housing, environmental 
health and enforcement to address the issues through a unified approach. 

 
3.4 Where there is a lack of resources to commit to a dedicated role or a cross- 

departmental approach authorities may only able to focus the most time-consuming 
measures on properties attracting complaints and pulling resources from other 
services, such as the police. 

 

3.5 Our members also highlight that building relationships with home owners, nurturing 
trust to explore options for bringing properties back into use is vital in achieving 
success, but this requires appropriate resource and capacity. 

 
3.6 Empty properties offer a tangible opportunity to stimulate local economies and 

provide employment, training and apprenticeship opportunities to local communities. 
Linking this effort with procuring locally makes sense and the benefits have been well 
demonstrated through initiates like the Welsh Housing Quality Standard. We believe 
linking further activity in this way to alleviate this issue would serve to amplify the 
impact acting upon empty properties can have for local authorities and communities 
alike. 

 
 

4. Legislative capacity and local authority powers 
 

4.1 Evidence collected to inform the independent review of affordable housing supply in 
Wales found that Empty Dwelling Management Orders (EDMOs) are not being 
utilised as LAs are finding alternative solutions. Some of our members highlighted 
that EDMOs can be time consuming to undertake and ensuring the business case is 
viable relating to each property can be challenging. Other tools such as compulsory 
purchase can prove effective but are also expensive, time-consuming and 
complicated to implement. 

Pack Page 56



5 

 
 

 

4.2 We believe there may be an opportunity, if the recommendation is accepted in the 
wake of the independent review of affordable housing supply to link pooling of 
resources and greater collaboration through the affordable housing supply 
partnership model advocated for by the panel to include a focus on efforts to bring 
empty properties back into use. 

 
4.3 Whilst current measures such as the Houses into Homes scheme offer a clear 

incentive for home owners who have the desire to bring the property back into use to 
gain the capital required to invest there is a need to consider how such support can 
be extended beyond home owners. Some of our members have had success in 
utilising a mix of social housing grant and private investment to add additional homes 
to the affordable housing supply locally, we believe this flexibility should be utilised 
elsewhere to realise similar gains. 

 
4.4 At the heart of the issue around empty homes is the lack of good quality data and 

information about the true number and the reasons behind properties being empty. 
We know a wide range of reasons may exist concerning why a property remains 
empty and why an owner may be resistant to bringing the property back into use. 
This could include individuals who are in negative equity and therefore reluctant to 
sell, those who find the process of paperwork and project management daunting and 
those who are unaware of what support they could gain access to. 

 
4.5 Data protection at present hinders the ability of local authorities to share information 

about empty properties and this in turn delays the ability of housing associations to 
attempt an intervention aimed at bringing properties back into use. To move to a 
place where activities and efforts are aligned with preventing empty properties from 
becoming vacant or remaining so for undesirable periods of time the issue of data 
collection and high-quality shareable intelligence must be addressed in the first 
instance. Without this, it seems likely that the positive practice currently in place will 
continue to have a positive effect but fall short of realising a net reduction in the 
number of empty properties identified annually in Wales. 

 
 

5. Examples of best practice 
 

5.1 Homestep Plus is a partnership between United Welsh Housing Association, 
Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC and the Welsh Government. The scheme addresses both 
the issues of empty homes and the challenge that many people face when seeking to 
buy their first home. The scheme provides an opportunity to first time buyers to 
purchase a refurbished home below the market rate. (United Welsh usually listing a 
property at around 70 per cent of the market value). 

 
5.2 Empty Homes Wales is another project run by United Welsh where the organisation 

takes a lease on empty properties, completing refurbishment works and rents the 
property. The income then is used to cover the costs of works and ongoing 
management costs. Once costs are recovered the owner can then decide if they wish 
for United Welsh to continue to manage and rent the property on their behalf or the 
property can be returned for the owner to use as they wish. 

Pack Page 57



6 

 
 

 

5.3 First time buyer grant is a scheme currently funded by Isle of Anglesey CC each 
year, using a proportion of the Council Tax premium charged by IOACC on empty 
and second homes, up to £680,000 over three years and additional TRIP Funding of 
£230,000 over three years. Local first-time buyers who purchase a long-term empty 
property in need of renovation receive a grant of up to £20,000 to meet the cost of 
work deemed by Housing Services’ Technical Officer, to be eligible to make their 
property warm, safe and secure. The grant is secured as a local land charge against 
the property and, should the owners leave or sell the property within five years, the 
grant is repayable in full. 

 
 

6. Impact of council tax premiums 
 

6.1 Whether to charge a premium on long-term empty homes or second homes (or both) 
is a decision made by each local authority. At present nine local authorities 
(Anglesey, Gwynedd, Conwy, Denbighshire, Flintshire, Wrexham, Powys, 
Ceredigion, Pembrokeshire) are charging an empty home premium and seven 
(Anglesey, Gwynedd, Flintshire, Powys, Ceredigion, Pembrokeshire) are charging a 
second home premium.2 

 

6.2 At present, one authority, the Isle of Anglesey is charging 100 per cent premium on 
empty properties with others charging either 50 per cent or 25 per cent. Leaving a 
number of authorities who have not adopted the use of the new powers. We believe it 
is too early to ascertain the extent of the impact. Anecdotal evidence from a number 
of authorities operating the premium however does suggest that it is increasing the 
amount of home owners approaching authorities to explore options around brining 
homes back into use. 

 
6.3 Some of our members reported that ensuring empty home and second home 

premiums remain at the same level is important to ensure there is no incentive to 
register an empty home as a second home to be eligible for a lower premium. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2 https://gweddill.gov.wales/docs/statistics/2019/190117-council-tax-dwellings-2019-20-en.pdf 

Pack Page 58

https://gweddill.gov.wales/docs/statistics/2019/190117-council-tax-dwellings-2019-20-en.pdf


Papur 7 - United Welsh  
Paper 7 - United Welsh  
 

1. Is enough being done to tackle empty properties in Wales?  If not, what
needs to change?

We do not feel there is enough being done to engage owners of empty
properties to bring their home back into use and provide much needed
accommodation.

For home owners there is the Houses into Homes loan scheme available to
them, however, for RSL’s and Councils there is currently no funding and very
little resources available to tackle the problem. While there is up to 58% social
housing grant available to build new homes there is no funding available for
us to bringing empty properties into stock. If funding and resources were
made available, RSLs and Councils could take a more proactive approach to
bring empty properties back into use which could help bridge the gap of
available homes within our communities.

While new build homes would be compliant with DQR and WQHS not
everyone wants to live in a new build and many would prefer to live in their
current communities that may not have any new developments.

2. What impact can empty properties have on a community?

Empty Homes are a wasted resource and can create problems for owners,

neighbours and local authorities. For example, we have worked on homes that

became a real eyesore in the community because they had been vandalised

and used for fly tipping. Transforming these properties means someone gets a

much-needed home to live in but it also saves Councils and Police time spent

on dealing with anti-social behaviour that arises from empty properties.

Restoring these homes improves the perception of the local area. Empty

homes also have a personal impact on the homeowner as without the right

care, the homes are deteriorating and losing value. Transforming these

homes has benefits for not just the homeowner, but also home seekers,

neighbours and the wider community.

3. How effectively are local authorities using the statutory and non-
statutory tools at their disposal to deal with empty properties?

We feel that local authorities do not have the resource to deal with empties
proactively. The process of compulsory purchase is expensive and very time

Pack Page 59



 

 

consuming and once the local authority has ownership they may not have the 
funding or the resource to refurbish the property to be reused.   
 
Working in partnership with local authorities we find that most do not have a 
dedicated resource to tackle the issue and will send out information to empty 
home owners annually which will included, for example, Houses into Homes 
loan scheme, auction houses, RSL’s leasing schemes, the Trustmark scheme 
to find quality tradesmen, developer’s contact details who are interested in 
purchasing empty properties for re-development, etc to encourage owners to 
be proactive themselves and bring their property back into use. 
 
Environmental Health officers often end up tackling the empty homes issue as 
part of their day to day job and this can mean unless there is a complaint 
about the empty property no action is taken.  
 
Where some local authorities have a dedicated empty homes officer they 
administer the empty homes loan scheme however, if an owner is unable or 
unwilling to take the loan they can only refer them to RSL’s many of which do 
not take on empty properties as there is no funding and it is not their core 
business.  
 
 
 

4. Do local authorities need additional statutory powers to deal with empty 
properties?  If yes, what powers do they need? 

 
The powers the local authorities currently have, need to be reviewed as they 
do not appear to be used due to the complexity of the legislative process and 
lack of resource. For example, Empty Dwelling Management Orders (EDMOs) 
Compulsory Purchase, enforced sale. 
 

 
If Local Authorities were able to release basic information for empty properties 
to RSLs, it could assist greatly in raising numbers of empties brought back 
into use. It is frustrating they cannot share this information due to Data 
Protection and it makes it all the more difficult to identify empties and achieve 
the desired targets. 

 
 

5. Are owners of empty properties given the support, information and 
advice that they need to bring properties back into occupation?  If not, 
what additional help do they need? 
 
There is lots of information available to empty property owners however very 
often they have unrealistic expectations of what works are required to bring a 
property up to the required standards for letting. This is also the case when it 
comes to selling an empty property and often the asking price does not 
consider the amount of works required to make the property habitable.  
 

Pack Page 60



 

 

Most Homeowners don’t want their homes to be empty, but sometimes they 

don’t have the finance or expertise to make their home fit to live in again. For 

example, sometimes people inherit homes that need work or someone’s 

lifestyle takes them away from the area of their property so it’s harder for them 

to maintain long distance.  

 
6. Is there sufficient awareness of the practical assistance that local 

authorities can offer to owners of empty properties?  If not, how could 
this be improved? 
 
The assistance local authorities can provide usually mean lots of paperwork 
for the owner, which can be off putting and while an interest free loan to an 
owner of an empty property is very helpful, the project management of a 
refurbishment can be time consuming and daunting.  If they then choose to 
rent the property, they need to register and pay to be part of the Rent Smart 
Wales scheme. A lot of owners of empty properties are in negative equity so 
selling is not an option.  We have met many owners over the years that say its 
more cost affective to keep the property empty and pay the council tax than 
sell for less than they owe. 

  

 
7. Are the skills and resources of housing associations and the private 

sector being fully utilised to tackle empty properties? 
 
As there is no funding available for housing associations to purchase empty 
properties it is difficult for the purchase and works to be viable and this can 
cause barriers in tackling the issue.  
 
Housing associations are used to maintaining homes to a high standard and 

dealing with contractors to arrange building works so we are well placed to 

support homeowners facing challenges and this was the reason we created 

the leasing model.  

 

While our lease module works extremely well, and we have some fantastic 

cases studies, it is only viable for a small number of owners. As we register a 

lease on the property, if the owner has a mortgage then the mortgage 

company needs to provide consent. Most lenders will only allow a 3-year 

lease, so this limits the number of owners with a mortgage we can assist 

because it may take longer than 3 years in which to recover all the works 

costs.   Lenders have advised they would review the situation after 3 years 

and potentially agree to grant another 3 years if necessary, but we cannot 

work ‘at risk’ of not being able to recover all the works costs. 

 
8. Is enough being done to ensure empty properties can be brought back 

into use as affordable homes?  Are there examples of good practice in 
this area? 

Pack Page 61



 

 

United Welsh currently run two projects trying to bring empty homes into use. 
One being grant and loan funded by Welsh Government (Homestep Plus) and 
the other being without any funding (Empty Homes Wales)  
 

Homestep Plus is delivered by United Welsh and Rhondda Cynon Taf 

Council in partnership with Welsh Government. It is a low-cost home 

ownership scheme that addresses two problems: 

1. The difficulty faced by first-time buyers to afford their first 
home  
2. The issue of empty homes  
 

Homestep Plus gives first-time buyers the chance to buy refurbished homes 

at less than market value that previously stood empty. United Welsh buys the 

empty properties then, if necessary, refurbishes the homes before listing them 

for sale at 70% of the Market Value. This means empty properties are given a 

new lease of life and first-time buyers can purchase an affordable home that 

has been checked to national standards. 

Another project we manage that brings empty homes back into use is Empty 

Homes Wales. United Welsh work with homeowners to refurbish their empty 

home by using our leasing module.  

 

This works by United Welsh taking a lease on the empty property, funding and 

arranging the refurbishment work and once complete renting the property.  

The rental income received during the term of the lease will be used to 

recover the cost of the work and the management costs. Once the work cost 

has been received, we can continue to rent the property on behalf of the 

owner and pay them the monthly rental income minus fees or the lease can 

be terminated and the owner can have the property back to do what they wish 

- rent, sell or live in themselves.  The project means homeowners end up with 

a refurbished property which protects their asset - rather than risk their 

property deteriorating further and losing value 

 

If an empty property owner has already arranged the refurbishment of their 

property themselves and it is to an acceptable, habitable standard which is 

ready to let, we can provide them a Tenancy Management Package under a 

lease agreement to manage the tenant and property on their behalf.  They 

may not have the experience, knowledge or the desire to be a landlord and 

this scheme takes away the stresses and worries from the owner that come 

with being a landlord.  They can be assured that the tenant and property is 

managed and maintained properly using the expertise and resources of the 

housing association and its contractor. 

 
 

Pack Page 62



 

 

9. Is the power to charge a council tax premium on long-term empty homes 
a useful tool and is it being effectively used?  If not, how could this tool 
be made more effective? 

We have not seen the impact for this to date, we understand some local 
authorities have withdrawn any discount for empty properties however we 
have yet to receive any referrals due to this. The concern is that owners will 
now register as living at the properties as a sole occupant and receive a 25% 
discount, so that they pay less than the new agreed 100% for empty homes.  

 
 
 
 

Pack Page 63



RESIDENTIAL LANDLORDS ASSOC. 

1 Roebuck Lane, Manchester, M33 7SY  T +44 (0) 3330 142 998  E info@rla.org.uk 

Residential Landlords Assoc. is a trading name of Residential Landlords Association Ltd. Company No. 2869179. 

www.rla.org.uk 

Thank you for the opportunity to respond to the above consultation.  The Residential 
Landlords Association (RLA) are very grateful for the opportunity to highlight their views as 
an organisation in relation to the National Assembly for Wales’ Equality, Local Government 
and Communities Committee’s inquiry into empty homes.  

About the RLA 

The Residential Landlords Association (RLA) represents the interests of landlords in the private 
rented sector (PRS) across England and Wales. With over 30,000 subscribing members and an 
additional 20,000 registered guests who engage regularly with the Association, the RLA is the 
leading voice of private landlords. Combined, the RLA members manage over a quarter of a 
million properties.  

The RLA provides support and advice to members and seeks to raise standards in the PRS 
through its code of conduct, training and accreditation. Many of the RLA’s resources are 
available free to non-member landlords and tenants.  

The Association campaigns to improve the PRS for both landlords and tenants, engaging with 
policymakers at all levels of Government to support its mission of making renting better. 

1. Is enough being done to tackle empty properties in Wales?  If not, what needs to
change?

Although recent statistics suggest that current work in tackling empty properties has had some 
impact, we believe that more work is required to tackle the problem as well as a change in 
attitude from relevant stakeholders. We call for Welsh local authorities and relevant 
stakeholders to work with the Private Rented Sector to develop a stronger quid pro quo 
relationship. This is important to foster a more progressive relationship that supports PRS 
landlords particularly in hard to rent areas or areas that commend a low rental value.   

Many local authorities in Wales appear reluctant to use the full extent of the powers on offer to 
them from the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 in relation to issuing a Council Tax premium of up to 
100% for empty properties. We would be supportive of issuing Council Tax premiums of up to 
100% where a property has been left unoccupied for twelve months or more as it is these long-
term empty properties that are causing the biggest problems in relation to be unoccupied.  

There are numerous examples of where local authorities provide financial incentives for PRS 
landlords to get their properties occupied. We very much welcome these initiatives and they are 
particularly useful to landlords that have properties that require structural improvements or have 
properties that are currently not fit for human habitation. However, using financial incentives are 
not a silver bullet in tackling the problem and can be a blunt instrument in tackling properties in 
areas that have low house price or rental values. For example, the prospect of an interest free 

Papur 8 - Cymdeithas Landlordiaid Preswyl
Paper 8 - Residential Landlords Association 

Pack Page 64

Agenda Item 4



RESIDENTIAL LANDLORDS ASSOC. 

1 Roebuck Lane, Manchester, M33 7SY  T +44 (0) 3330 142 998  E info@rla.org.uk 

Residential Landlords Assoc. is a trading name of Residential Landlords Association Ltd. Company No. 2869179. 

www.rla.org.uk 

loan or grant is going to be less of an incentive to a landlord who has a property that requires 
major and often expensive structural improvements in low rental areas such as the South Wales 
Valleys. Furthermore, we would welcome more support to landlords who have rental properties 
that are unoccupied potentially because they have poor accessibility or are in low demand 
areas. We would like to highlight Brighton and Hove Council as an example of good practice 
who support landlords with a variety of measures even if their property has accessibility issues 
such as access through a commercial premise. This support is provided through a leasing 
scheme or working in partnership with local universities to let for students.  

2. What impact can empty properties have on a community?

As an organisation that presents the interests of PRS landlords, one of our concerns over empty 
properties is the loss of income to landlords in the sector who have empty properties as part of 
their portfolios. However, given the importance in securing rental incomes, there is generally a 
justification for why a property remains vacant.  This could include properties requiring structural 
improvements or the property is currently not fit for human habitation.  In these instances, we 
call for a more sympathetic approach which builds on a more supportive relationship between 
PRS landlords and local authorities.  

An additional benefit for PRS landlords, and indeed the social and owner-occupied sector, is 
that when a property is occupied, then the security of the building is improved. Accordingly, 
when a building is left empty then the propensity that the property will be liable to vandalism and 
squatting vastly increases. Instances of other forms of anti-social behaviour are also increased 
in empty property, with many such properties becoming magnets for fly tipping. This, of course, 
is at the detriment of not just the housing sector, but wider community.  

When a property is brought back into use, then there are benefits for neighbours living in close 
proximity of the property. Benefits to neighbours include, an increase in their home’s property 
value and an improvement in the local environment often directly from improvements to the 
property or indirectly from a reduction in fly tipping and anti-social behaviour. There is strong 
evidence to suggest that overall these factors can have a positive impact on neighbours’ sense 
of well-being and mental health.  

By brining back properties into use, communities will benefit with an increased housing supple, 
greater choice and flexibility, opportunities to house vulnerable people and potentially larger 
properties for people to buy or rent. 

We believe that bringing empty homes back into use presents economic opportunities 
particularly for small and medium enterprises and we see a strong synergy between small 
developers and landlords within the PRS. Residential development is largely controlled by 
several large building firms, many of whom operate outside of Wales. The smaller jobs that 
would be required to bring homes back into use would be more desirable for small and medium 
developers. This in turn would create local job and training opportunities as well as bolster local 
supply chains.  

We also recognise that there are advantages to both national and local government as well as 
public bodies when homes are brought back into use. Many local authorities have difficulties in 
housing vulnerable people and reducing homelessness.  By bringing homes back into use, not 
only can local authorities have greater options to house vulnerable people, but they have less 
reliance on turning to temporary accommodation and bed and breakfasts, which will overall 
reduce costs for local authorities.   

Furthermore, local authorities will potentially have larger populations to collect council tax from 
and subsequently protect and invest in local community services. With the refreshing of Local 
Development Plans, local authorities are increasingly under pressure to meet development 
targets to tackle housing shortages.  By bringing more existing homes back in to use, local 
authorities will not have to turn to as many greenfield sites or sites that are contentious or 

Pack Page 65



RESIDENTIAL LANDLORDS ASSOC. 

1 Roebuck Lane, Manchester, M33 7SY  T +44 (0) 3330 142 998  E info@rla.org.uk 

Residential Landlords Assoc. is a trading name of Residential Landlords Association Ltd. Company No. 2869179. 

www.rla.org.uk 

unpopular with the public. It is also arguable, that by bringing back existing homes rather than 
continuing development often out of town or on the periphery of County Boroughs, then the 
demand of other public bodies such as the police, ambulance and fire service are less great.  

3. How effectively are local authorities using the statutory and non-statutory tools at
their disposal to deal with empty properties?

There are several statutory powers at the disposal of local authorities. We believe that local 
authorities should only use some of these powers in very special circumstances. For example, 
issuing Compulsory Purchase Orders (CPO) should only be used if it has not been possible to 
turn the property into a home by taking several measures previously and with the full 
cooperation of landlords and owners.  

There are also several statutory powers that allow local authorities to take over properties and 
run them for landlords and home owners. These include Empty Dwelling Management Orders 
(EDMOs), which allows local authorities to take over the management of empty properties with 
any costs incurred taken from rents. When EDMOs are issued, the landlord effectively still owns 
the building with the local authority managing the property to get it back on the market. Again, 
we believe these orders should only be issued as a last resort and by developing a cooperative 
relationship with landlords. It is possible to issue an EDMO if a property has been empty for six 
months or more although we do not feel that this is sufficient time to explore other options.  That 
said, EDMOs are a useful tool in tackling empty homes and we would be grateful of a full review 
to which local authorities are using them across Wales and to what extent.  

Other tools available include Section 17 orders, Section 226 and Enforced Sales Procedures. 
We would also be interested in to what the extent these orders are used as anecdotally, we 
believe their use is not widespread across Wales  Again, using these powers should only be 
issued in cooperation with PRS landlords and after other measured have failed to have a 
positive outcome.  

4. Do local authorities need additional statutory powers to deal with empty
properties?  If yes, what powers do they need?

We would like to see local authorities to have additional statutory powers to quickly take control 
of unoccupied commercial assets, which could then be converted into residential properties to 
be either let or sold privately. We would also like to see basing future planning permissions on 
developers’ build-out rates; and procedures in place to pressure councils that fail to produce 
adequate proposals about the properties they plan to build. We are also very supportive of 
ensuring that parcels of land in planning applications are smaller to ensure local builders are not 
priced out of the market, who may favour doing smaller conversion work than the big national 
builders.  

5. Are owners of empty properties given the support, information and advice that
they need to bring properties back into occupation?  If not, what additional help
do they need?

There are many examples of support schemes across the UK. However, one holistic example 
comes from East Ayrshire Council who have recently secured money from the Scottish 
Government to assist owners of empty properties to bring their property up to a lettable standard 
by providing an interest free loan if the property is let at a market rent for five years or sold at an 
affordable level. East Ayrshire have also implemented the 100% council tax premium if a 
property is empty for over 12 months unless they are actively marketing the property for rent, 
the property is a second home, or the property requires structural repairs. 

The Council have also opened communication with PRS landlords and offer advice on safety 
and security, renovation overviews, sourcing VAT discounts, advice on energy efficiency as well 
as supporting owners on selling options such as estate agents, auction houses and property 

Pack Page 66



RESIDENTIAL LANDLORDS ASSOC. 

1 Roebuck Lane, Manchester, M33 7SY  T +44 (0) 3330 142 998  E info@rla.org.uk 

Residential Landlords Assoc. is a trading name of Residential Landlords Association Ltd. Company No. 2869179. 

www.rla.org.uk 

buying companies. 

East Ayrshire also provide interest free loans and grants, a buy back scheme and a 
‘Matchmaker Scheme’ whereby owners can provide details of their property, this information can 
be passed to potential purchasers of empty properties. The council also provides several 
support services specifically in mind with PRS landlords.  

6. Is there sufficient awareness of the practical assistance that local authorities can
offer to owners of empty properties?  If not, how could this be improved?

In our work in liaising with PRS landlords via landlord forums, we are aware that more needs to 
be done in raising awareness of assistance available from local authorities. We encourage all 
local authorities to develop landlord forums within their County Boroughs and to communicate 
support via these forums. 35,000 PRS landlord members across England and Wales, we are in 
a strong position to communicate and highlight local support on offer from Welsh local 
authorities directly to our members.  

One area that does not appear to have been communicated well in some parts of Wales, where 
local authorities have taken away Council Tax exemptions for empty properties, is the prospect 
that these exemptions could continue for a period of time while properties are being maintained 
or made fit for human habitation.  There does appear to be some ambivalence over this caveat 
of the exemption which has resulted in some PRS landlords being refunded Council Tax. 

One issue is that there does not appear to be any definitive database of empty properties across 
Wales. In Northern Ireland, as part of John Semple’s review into empty properties in Northern 
Ireland, he recommended a central database of all empty homes, a new system of rating to 
provide for 100% rating for private sector properties vacant for 6 months or more, rising to 200% 
if vacant for a year or more; incentives to bring empty properties back into use e.g. private 
sector grants; more use of existing powers to address empty dwellings and a review of 
demolitions. A central database would give the Welsh Government the opportunity to plan 
resources and consider different methods of tackling empty properties given the different 
economic and social challenges across different parts of Wales.  We also feel that Rent Smart 
Wales are in a good position to promote support from their records of PRS landlords in Wales.   

7. Are the skills and resources of housing associations and the private sector being
fully utilised to tackle empty properties?

We have already stated that we would like to see a stronger relationship between the PRS, local 
authorities and their stakeholders. If a local authority or social housing landlord is unable to 
house a tenant, they should turn to the PRS especially landlords that have empty properties.  

We would like to see local authorities use their unique community leadership role in supporting 
PRS landlords, which will reduce empty properties, house vulnerable groups and reduce 
homelessness.  Local authorities are in a unique position to work with local universities to 
support students into suitable accommodation. Furthermore, their relationship with local prisons, 
military establishments and care homes should also give them the opportunity to support care 
leavers and ex-offenders into suitable accommodation.    

8. Is enough being done to ensure empty properties can be brought back into use as
affordable homes?  Are there examples of good practice in this area?

We understand that the Welsh Government are looking to do three pilot projects across Wales 
on social lettings schemes. This is a scheme where local authorities or social landlords would 
manage the property on behalf of the PRS landlord.  It is proposed that the landlord would get a 
guaranteed rental income at Local Housing Allowance Rate (LHA) and that the landlord would 
have the property back after five years.  Other incentives include a £2,000 grant to get 
properties up to standard and a £8,000 interest free loan.  

Pack Page 67



While we do not see this as an attractive option for all landlords in the sector, it might be an 
option for some. However, given the propensity that such schemes are likely to house the most 
vulnerable people in society, we remain concerned about support services on offer for tenants 
as it is in everyone’s interest that tenants are safe, secure and able to stay in their property.  
The social sector does have the benefit of additional support both inhouse and from partners 
and this support can include money matters teams as well as a host of teams to support specific 
needs such as poor mental and physical health as well as sourcing employment opportunities. 
This scheme is likely to be more attractive to PRS tenants in isolated hard to rent properties. 
Therefore, we await clarification in relation to our concerns on this matter.   

That said, one attractive opportunity of the scheme is the proposal that tenants could pay into a 
scheme that could cover the cost of refurbishment in the form of a bond.  Rather than having to 
pay the lump sum of the bond it would paid incrementally and at the end of the tenancy is no 
subtractions have been made, could be used as a future bond for subsequent properties.  

Carmarthenshire County Council have an established social lettings scheme and the Welsh 
Government are in communication with the local authority in replicating the scheme across 
Wales.  

9. Is the power to charge a council tax premium on long-term empty homes a useful
tool and is it being effectively used?  If not, how could this tool be made more
effective?

We think that potentially it is.  However, if it is used in isolation, then the probability is that it will 
do little in reducing empty homes. Also, as we have previously indicated, there appears to be a 
reluctance for many Welsh local authorities to implement the premiums and favour simply taking 
existing exemptions away.   

Our favoured model would be for local authorities to provide a 100% Council Tax discount 
for one month for all empty properties. This would reduce unnecessary administration and 
costs for both the council and property owners. We also recommend a 50% discount for all 
properties for six months.  Properties that require major refurbishment including those that 
are inhabitable would be awarded a 100% discount for twelve months. However, unless a 
very good reason can be provided, a premium Council Tax should be charged for properties 
that remain empty for over twelve months which could be up to the value of a premium of 
100% on Council Tax.    

We believe that our recommendations would reduce empty properties more effectively, 
achieve value for money for the authority and would further stimulate local housing 
shortages.   

Thank you for taking our views into consideration.  We look forward to reading your final 
recommendations. 

Pack Page 68



Papur 9 - Cymdeithas Genedlaethol y Landlordiaid  

Paper 9 - National Landlords Association 

1. Is enough being done to tackle empty properties in Wales? If not, what 

needs to change? 

 Empty properties in the private rented sector are not great for business. A 

landlord should be looking to rent their property out all the time. If the 

property is empty, there is a reason. There are issues around those entering 

the market and those who do not have the funds to bring a property back up 

to standard. There are schemes which they can enter where they can lease 

the property to a third party. These could be advertised better, often they 

advertised just in the locality – the owner does not necessarily live there. 

This would include to those that have inherited a property and do not wish 

to manage the property themselves.  

 2. What impact can empty properties have on a community? 

 A long-term empty property can become an attraction to low level abuse 

and crime. It can also create misconceptions about the property and the 

owner. 

 3. How effectively are local authorities using the statutory and non-statutory 

tools at their disposal to deal with empty properties? 

 This depends on the empty property and the local authority. The powers are 

there and the decision to bring an empty property back into use can be time 

consuming and involve substantial work. There is an opportunity to let 

owners know that they can pass the property to a third party to manage, but 

this involves substantial research and work. Although the rewards for local 

authorities are great, the prioritisation of this does not always reach the top.  

 4. Do local authorities need additional statutory powers to deal with empty 

properties? If yes, what powers do they need? 

 It is not just powers it is the ability and resources to execute these powers. 

This falls into the trap that it is just the allocation of new powers that are 

required to solve every problem when many of the powers already exist.  

 5. Are owners of empty properties given the support, information and 

advice that they need to bring properties back into occupation? If not, what 

additional help do they need? 

Pack Page 69



  

Yes, there could be more support, but it is difficult as the person receiving 

the advice is required to take it. Quite often they do not. It is not only one 

way, if a person has inherited the family home they still see it as a family 

home.  

 6. Is there sufficient awareness of the practical assistance that local 

authorities can offer to owners of empty properties? If not, how could this be 

improved? 

 There is not. If there was a simple answer to the question the local 

authorities would have done it. The question is about resources and time. 

The local authority will have to commit significant resources and time, work 

with the different owners etc. in many cases they will not take notice of the 

local authority until formal notice is taken by the local authority and 

proceedings start. 

 7. Are the skills and resources of housing associations and the private 

sector being fully utilised to tackle empty properties? 

 More can always be done, it is about providing routes and advice that 

people wish to listen too at a time when they are prepared to listen. Often it 

is not a priority for the owner or a too difficult question. The best advice and 

resources and only as good as the recipient is willing to take them, 

unfortunately they often disregard the advice.  

 8. Is enough being done to ensure empty properties can be brought back 

into use as affordable homes? Are there examples of good practice in this 

area?  

 It is not just from one side, to look at this just from what is the government 

doing, more powers, fines etc. It needs to show how a person with an empty 

property can make a profit and turn the property into an asset which returns 

a monthly income for them. It is important that they make the argument as 

to why a person should bring a property back into use and rent it out.  

Pack Page 70



 9. Is the power to charge a council tax premium on long-term empty homes 

a useful tool and is it being effectively used? If not, how could this tool be 

made more effective? 

 It is a useful tool, but it is not going to bring goodwill to the local authority 

from the owner. Instead of looking to penalise people first the local authority 

should be looking to work with people and only use this as the last tool, 

when the owner is not prepared to work with the local authority to bring the 

property back into use.  

 

Pack Page 71



Papur 10 -  Ffederasiwn y Meistri Adeiladu Cymru
Paper 10 - Federation of Master Builders Cymru 

Ymgynghoriad ‘Ymchwiliad i Eiddo Gwag’ 

Pwyllgor Cydraddoldeb, Llywodraeth Leol a Chymunedau 

Gorffennaf 2019 

Ymateb Ffederasiwn y Meistri Adeiladu Cymru / Federation of Master Builders Cymru 

Ynglyn a Ffederasiwn y Meistri Adeiladu 

Ffederasiwn y Meistri Adeiladu (Federation of Master Builders [FMB]) yw’r gymdeithas 
fasnach fwyaf o fewn diwydiant adeiladu y Deyrnas Unedig a Chymru. Cafodd yr FMB ei 
sefydlu yn 1941 i amddiffyn ac i hyrwyddo buddion cwmnïau adeiladu maint bach a chanolig. 

Ein ymateb i’r cwestiynau: 

1. A oes digon yn cael ei wneud i fynd i’r afael â problem eiddo gwag yng
Nghymru? Os nad oes, beth sydd angen ei newid?

Yn bresenol, mae yna ryw 27,000 o dai gwag yn bodoli yng Nghymru. Yn 2009,
roedd y ffigwr yn agosach i tua 26,000. Yn amlwg, mae na fwy o dai yn bodoli heddiw
nac yn 2009, ac efallai ei bod hi felly’n deg i ddweud nad yw’r sefyllfa wedi
gwaethygu, ond nid yw’r sefyllfa wedi gwella chwaith.

Mae’r ymyriadau sydd yn angenrheidiol i ddod a thai gwag yn ôl i fod yn gartrefi yn
amrywio o dŷ i dŷ. Yn ogystal a bod yn amrywiol, mae achosion hefyd yn aml yn
gymleth ac yn hirhoedlog. O achos hyn, mae ymyriadau o anghenrhaid yn aml yn
gostus. Gyda chyllideb y sector gyhoeddus yn gyfyngedig, mae hi felly yn holl bwysig
fod adnoddau’n cael eu sianelu at y tai gwag sydd yn cael yr effaith mwyaf negyddol
ar gymdeithas, waeth ble yng Nghymru mae’r tai wedi eu lleoli.

Mae angen hefyd cynnig mwy o gymhellion i annog y sector breifat i fuddsoddi mewn
tai gwag.

2. Pa effaith y gall eiddo gwag ei gael ar gymuned?

. Llai o dai ar y farchnad yn arwain at ddwyshau’r argyfwng o ddiffyg tai

. Effaith negyddol ar brisiau tai

Pack Page 72



 
. Gwneud buddsoddi’n yr ardal yn llai atyniadol 

 
. Effaith negyddol ariannol ar berchennog tŷ gwag 

 
. Annog gweithredoedd gwrthgymdeithasol 

 
. Effaith negyddol ar yr amgylchedd 
 

3. Pa mor effeithiol y mae awdurdodau lleol yn defnyddio’r offer statudol ac 
anstatudol sydd ar gael iddynt i fynd i’r afael ag eiddo gwag? 

 
Ar gyfartaledd, dim ond 5.7% o dai gwag mae Awdurdodau Lleol yn llwyddo eu 
hadennill ac er fod eithriadau’n bodoli, mae’n amlwg y gellid gwneud mwy o ddefnydd 
o’r offer statudol ac anstatudol sydd ar gael.  

 
Y broblem yw fod angen adnoddau i weithredu ac i blismona’r pwerau yma, a gan fod 
adnoddau’n brin, dyw gwneud defnydd o’r pwerau ddim yn cael ei flaenoriaethu gan 
nad oes rheidrwydd statudol i ymyryd yn y maes. 

  
Mae’r maes deddfwriaethol yma yn ymweld yn gymleth. Byddai gwneud y maes yn 
haws i’w ddeall ac i’w ddefnyddio yn annog mwy o ddefnydd o’r grymoedd sydd ar 
gael. 

 
4. A oes angen pwerau statudol ychwanegol ar awdurdodau lleol i fynd i’r afael a 

problem eiddo gwag? Os oes, pa bwerau sydd eu hangen arnynt? 
 
Fel blaenoriaeth, dylid symleiddio’r pwerau statudol sy’n bodoli eisioes. 

5. A yw perchnogion eiddo gwag yn cael y cymorth, y wybodaeth a’r cyngor sydd 
eu hangen arnynt i ddod â thai yn ôl i feddiannaeth? Os nad ydynt, pa gymorth 
ychwanegol sydd ei angen arnynt? 

 
Mae’r wybodaeth sydd yn bodoli ar-lein yn annigonol. Dylid creu un gwefan ganolog 
sydd yn cynnig gwybodaeth, cymorth a chyngor.  

 
6. A oes digon o ymwybyddiaeth o’r cymorth ymarferol y gall awdurdodau lleol ei 

gynnig i berchnogion eiddo gwag? Os nad oes, sut y gellid gwella hyn? 
 

Nac oes. Byddai gwefan ganolog o gymorth.  
 

Beth am gynnal digwyddiadau trwy Gymru i geisio dod a’r rhanddeiliad at eu gilydd 
mewn un stafell i drafod ac i geisio datrys rhai o’r rhwystrau? Rhanddeiliaid megis 
perchnogion tai gwag, entrepreneuriaid / buddsoddwyr tai lleol, adeiladwyr, 
cymdeithasau tai, asiantau tai lleol, ynghyd a chynrychiolwyr o’r sector gyhoeddus 
(Llywodraeth Cymru, Awdurdodau Lleol ayyb). 
 

7. A yw sgiliau ac adnoddau cymdeithasau tai a’r sector preifat yn cael eu 
defnyddio’n llawn i fynd i’r afael â phroblem eiddo gwag? 

 
Os oes galw i adnewyddu tŷ gwag a sicrwydd y bydd buddsoddiad yn troi yn elw, yna 
fe fydd y sector breifat yn ateb y galw. Fodd bynnag, yn aml na pheidio, y rheswm 
fod tŷ yn wag yw nad yw’r sector breifat wedi cael eu hargyhoeddi fod gwerth 
buddsoddi yn y prosiect.  
 

Pack Page 73



Dylid cynnig mwy o gymhelliant i’r sector breifat ac i gymdeithasau tai fuddsoddi 
mewn tai gwag. Gallai hyn fod mewn ffurf grant, benthyciad, neu gyfuniad o’r ddau. 

 

Pack Page 74



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 75

By virtue of paragraph(s) ix of Standing Order 17.42



Equality, Local Government and Communities Committee 

11 July 2019 – papers to note cover sheet 

Paper no. Issue From Action point 

ELGC(5)-22-19 

Paper 11 

International 

Agreements: 

Agreements 

considered by the 

External Affairs 

and Additional 

Legislation 

Committee 

First Minister of 

Wales to the 

Llywydd 

To note  

ELGC(5)-22-19 

Paper 12 

Inquiry into fire 

safety in high-rise 

buildings 

John Griffiths 

AM to 

Minister for 

Housing and 

Local 

Government 

 

To note 

 

 

Pack Page 77

Agenda Item 5



Y Gwir Anrh/ Rt Hon Mark Drakeford AC/ AM 
Prif Weinidog Cymru/First Minister of Wales 

Ein cyf/Our ref: MA-L/FM/0506/19 D4 

Elin Jones AM 
Llywydd 
National Assembly for Wales 

llywydd@assembly. wales 

International obligations which bind the UK 

Llywodraeth Cymru 
Welsh Government 

July 2019 

I am writing to seek the views of the Business Committee on the National Assembly's 
engagement with international obligations which bind the UK. This issue has recently arisen 
in the context of the UK's efforts to conclude bilateral agreements with other EU countries to 
secure reciprocal voting rights in local government elections. However, the issue is one 
which can be anticipated to arise often, should we leave the EU, and which has broader 
constitutional implications. 

The UK Government alerted us to these negotiations rather late in the day, after an 
agreement with Spain had been agreed in principle. 

From the standpoint of current policy, this is unproblematic: it aligns fully with the 
commitment of the Welsh Government and a large majority in the National Assembly to 
extend the franchise for local government and National Assembly elections to all foreign 
nationals as part of our aim to make Wales a welcoming nation. Moreover, it will require no 
specific action on the part of the Welsh Government and the National Assembly. 

However, in concluding agreements which bind all parts of the UK to extend the franchise to 
nationals of certain other countries the UK Government is effectively constraining both 
legislative and executive competence of the devolved institutions in future, since a future 
National Assembly with a different political outlook would be unable to legislate to remove 
the franchise from such citizens. 

In the specific case of these agreements, there is a mechanism by which these reciprocal 
voting rights treaties can be modified, and we have emphasised the need for a process to 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 
0300 0604400 

YP .PrifWeinidog@llyw .cymru • os. firstminister@gov. wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi. 

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh. Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding. 

Papur 11 
Paper 11 

Pack Page 78

Agenda Item 5.1



request the use of this mechanism to remove Wales from the agreement should a future 
Welsh Government or National Assembly adopt a different policy position from ours. 

Nevertheless, the broader constitutional principle which is at play here will be relevant 
across all the international agreements the UK may seek to make in the future, both with the 
EU and with third countries more widely, which intersect with devolved competence. 

We have emphasised to the UK Government that the Welsh Government must be fully 
engaged in the negotiation of such agreements in order to ensure that commitments are not 
made on our behalf without our agreement. Discussion on these points is ongoing, not least 
in the context of the Inter-Governmental Relations Review. 

The UK Government has in any event already committed to initiating an exchange of 
Ministerial letters in all cases where proposed international agreements intersect with 
devolved competence in order to provide sufficient opportunity for the Welsh Government to 
signal any difficulties we might have with what is proposed. We have also emphasised the 
importance of ensuring we have an opportunity to engage with the Assembly in advance. 

It is on this last point that I would particularly welcome views from the Assembly. I am keen 
that either before or during the exchange of Ministerial letters on international obligations 
which bind the UK, the Assembly and/or its committees have the opportunity to express a 
view. I am keen to work with you to establish a process or procedure for this. 

I am copying this letter to the Chairs of the Equality, Local Government and Communities, 
the External Affairs and Additional Legislation, and the Constitutional and Legislative Affairs 
Committees, as well as to the Counsel General and Brexit Minister, the Minister for Finance 
and Trefnydd, and the Minister for International Relations and the Welsh Language. 

MARK DRAKEFORD 

Pack Page 79



 

Papur 12 
Paper 12 

 

 

4 July 2019 

Fire safety in high rise buildings 

Dear Minister 

I am writing following the publication of A Road Map to Safer Buildings in Wales 
(“the Roadmap”) and the two oral statements you made on the Welsh 
Government response to the Roadmap. 

Firstly, in the statement on 21 May, you made a commitment to share the 
detailed project plan, but as far as we are aware, this has not yet been placed in 
the Assembly library, or circulated to Members. I understand it may have been 
shared with one Assembly Member, but as far as we are aware it has not been 
more widely circulated. I will be grateful for your advice as to when this will be 
made available to Members.   

As you know, the Committee, and other Assembly Members wish to see fire 
safety pursued with pace and vigour by all the responsible partners, including the 
Welsh Government. As many of us said in Plenary, there is nothing more 
fundamental than your home being safe. There can be no complacency about 
this. We know that warnings from the Lakanal House tragedy were not heeded. 
Only last month there was another, thankfully non-fatal, fire in a block of flats in 
Barking.  

It has been clear since Grenfell, that the Welsh Government is committed to 
tackling these complicated issues. We acknowledge that a considered and 
phased approach is needed, and it is complex, but we continue to have 
frustrations that the pace of implementation on some of these issues is just not 
quick enough. 

When I asked you about this, you said that one of the issues is that there is not 
consensus across stakeholders and regulators around replacing the Fire Safety 
Order, and that some of these issues are more contentious than you might have 

Minister for Housing and Local Government 

Pack Page 80

Agenda Item 5.2

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/building-safety-expert-group-road-map_0.pdf


 

 

expected. Could you outline what these differences of opinions are, and how they 
could delay a final decision? 

As you know, we as a Committee believe strongly that the replacement 
legislation for the Fire Safety Order should be introduced in the current 
Assembly; are you now in a better position to advise whether this is now likely to 
happen? 

I note your comments from the most recent statement, that as it is likely to be 
uncontroversial, it should not be a piece of legislation that could be affected by 
the outcome of the 2021 election result. But our concern is that because it is such 
an important part of the fire safety framework, a delay into the next Assembly 
term (taking into account the dissolution period and any time taken to form a 
Government, establish Assembly committees, and then to start the process of 
legislative scrutiny) means we will be waiting too long for these legislative 
changes to be scrutinised, never mind, implemented  

One of the main areas of concern for the Committee has been around fire doors, 
and whether they provide 30 minutes of protection. When your predecessor gave 
evidence to the Committee last year, she outlined the steps that were being 
taken to ensure that responsible persons had the right information about fire 
door safety. However, she also stated that the Welsh Government could not be 
expected to know which buildings had the doors which were causing concern.  

We note that Inside Housing recently reported that thousands of non-compliant 
fire doors were still in place in council housing across England. This is clearly of 
concern, and we would like to seek some more information and assurances 
about the situation in Welsh high rise buildings. We note that you have previously 
said that fire doors are only one part of the solution, but they obviously play an 
important part in maintaining compartmentation and keeping people and 
buildings safe in the event of a fire.  

The Committee, in our most recent report, also made recommendations around 
the feasibility of requiring level four invasive surveys for high rise residential 
buildings. You accepted these recommendations in principle, and said you would 
consider the need for such surveys and who could be best placed to deliver 
them. This issue was not covered in the Roadmap. Can you provide us with an 
update on these considerations and when you expect to make a decision?  

In responding to our report, you also committed to providing us with an update 
on capacity for materials testing and any impact this may have had on high rise 
buildings in Wales. Could you update the Committee on this issue?  

Pack Page 81

https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/news/tens-of-thousands-of-non-compliant-fire-doors-still-being-used-in-council-blocks-post-grenfell-61941


 

 

We would also like more detailed information on the steps that the Welsh 
Government is taking to encourage the retro-fitting of sprinklers, particularly in 
private sector buildings.  

We are pleased that all the buildings in Wales with ACM cladding have been 
identified, and that the remedial work is not being funded by leaseholders or 
residents. Can you provide more details on when you expect all the remedial 
work to be completed?  

In our report we recommended that regulation be established for managing 
agents of high rise residential buildings. In your initial response, you outlined how 
the suggestion we made about extending Rent Smart Wales remit was 
”impractical” in the “interim and short term” because it would need legislative 
changes. With the Leasehold Task and Finish Group due to report shortly, which 
we understand is closely linked with our recommendation, could you provide an 
update on whether you will be seeking to introduce such regulation?  

Finally, moving onto the issue of building regulations. In responding to our report, 
you rejected our recommendation, at that time, to “urgently change the 
regulatory framework to allow local authority building control to act as the 
regulator for high-rise residential buildings of seven storeys or higher” but you 
also said that you would take account of the relevant capacity and specialist 
competence issues in relation to building control. In light of the Roadmap, have 
you reconsidered your response to our recommendation? 

I look forward to receiving your response. 

  

Yours sincerely 

 

John Griffiths 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

 

 

Pack Page 82



 

 

 

Pack Page 83



Response to the Finance Committee’s, Children, Young People and Education 
Committee’s and Equality, Local Government and Communities Committee’s 
joint report on ‘Assessing the impact of budget decisions’ (March 2019). 

The Welsh Government welcomes the publication of the joint report on Assessing 
the impact of budget decisions.  We also welcome the constructive debate that has 
taken place during the scrutiny of our budget proposals and will consider all the 
evidence and feedback received in relation to impact assessments, including from 
individual policy committees. 

We were the first Government in the UK to publish an equality impact assessment of 
our spending plans as part of the 2011-12 Budget.   Since then we have continually 
looked to review and build an increasingly sophisticated approach to assessing the 
impact of the Welsh Government budget. From 2015-16 this has evolved into our 
producing a Strategic Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) of the budget.   

In addition, but separately to this, the Welsh Government has worked to develop and 
streamline the approach to assessing and appraising the impacts of policies across 
Government. 

We accept, or accept in principle, all of the report’s recommendations.  The report 
includes a number of recommendations in relation to both the SIIA of the budget and 
the new integrated impact assessment (IIA) tool.  As the then Leader of the House 
said in her evidence to the joint session last November, the IIA tool is the mechanism 
by which the impact assessment of a particular policy is arrived at. The approach to 
assessing the impact of spending decisions (the SIIA of the budget) is 
complementary to, and dependent on the individual assessments of impact from 
policies that are being brought together under Integrated Impact Assessments.  

To aid future consideration, the following provides an overview of each: 

 Strategic Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) of the budget The SIIA aims
to fulfil our responsibility to consider spending decisions taken as part of the
annual budget process through a number of lenses to understand their impac t.
These are equalities, human rights, children’s rights, Welsh language, climate
change, rural proofing, health, biodiversity and economic development.  Socio-
economic disadvantage is an underpinning consideration when assessing the
impact of budget decisions. The SIIA therefore sets out how these
considerations have informed the strategic budget allocations taken as part of
the annual budget process to improve the economic, social, environmental and
cultural well-being of Wales (sustainable development).

 Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) tool The IIA tool was launched in July
2018 and has been developed to streamline the Welsh Government’s existing
impact assessments into a single, integrated framework that will guide policy and
legislative development.  It is structured using the Well-being of Future
Generation Act’s sustainable development principle of improving Wales’
economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being (as expressed through
the seven well-being goals for Wales).  It also provides guidance on applying the
five ways of working in decision-making. The IIA tool is designed to support the

 Papur 13 Llywodraeth Cymru
Paper 13 Welsh Government

Pack Page 83

Agenda Item 8

KhanH
Cross-Out



policy process by helping decision makers understand the potential impacts 
(positive and negative) of policies from an early stage and throughout their 
development.  Assessment of impact on people and places and social, 
economic, environmental and cultural well-being is key to good policy-making, 
and the tool supports these considerations throughout the policy-development 
process.   

 
 
Recommendation 1.  That the Welsh Government clearly sets out the SIIA 
process (in greater detail than provided previously), its purpose and expected 
outcomes, following engagement with and agreement from the relevant 
statutory commissioners. 
 
Response:  Accept 
 
In the response to recommendations by the Finance Committee in its report Scrutiny 
of the Assembly Commission’s Draft Budget 2019-20, we committed to continuously 
building on improvements to the Strategic Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) to 
increase its value in considering the impact of strategic spending decisions.  We will 
reflect further on the evidence provided to the committees in relation to the SIIA. 
 
As part of this, we will work with the relevant statutory commissioners to provide 
greater clarity on the purpose and expected outcomes of the SIIA process, in 
considering how our approach can be used more effectively to inform spending 
decisions and priorities as part of the annual budget process.  
 
To ensure these discussions support wider developments, we will also ensure this 
engagement aligns with the 2019 review of the IIA tool (see response to 
Recommendation 3). 
 
Recommendation 2.  That the Welsh Government publish all of its individual 
impact assessments to a central location, which can then be referenced by the 
SIIA. 
 
Response:  Accept in principle  
 

The Welsh Government is committed to the concept of ‘Open Government’ as 
demonstrated in the publication of our Open Government National Action Plan1.  The 
commitments outline our ambitions to be more open and responsive to citizens, 
more accountable and to take a more collaborative approach to the way we work.  
We fully recognise the need to build upon the work done to date by continuing to 
drive forward openness and transparency. 
 
Individual impact assessments on significant decisions are generally published as 
part of policy documentation on the Welsh Government website.  They can be found 
alongside published policy documents but are not held in a separate central location.  
This is in order that those seeking the information can access and understand all of 

                                            
1https://gov.wales/uk-open-government-national-action-plan-2016-2018-welsh-government-
commitments  

Pack Page 84

https://gov.wales/uk-open-government-national-action-plan-2016-2018-welsh-government-commitments


the considerations and supporting suite of documents in relation to a particular policy 
and/or decision.  While it would be possible, in principle, to place all published impact 
assessments in one area, further consideration needs to be given as to whether this 
would aid accessibility, understanding and transparency.   
 
Recommendation 3.  That the Welsh Government commission, at the end of 
this Assembly, a focused piece of work to consider the progress made in 
relation to SIIAs.  This should consider matters such as (but not restricted to) 
the tool’s relative complexity, how the tool has approached the weighting of 
multiple rights and impacts, and the uses made of the tool’s outputs. 
 
Response: Accept 
 
Strategic Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) of the budget 

 
In line with our commitment to continuously improve how we consider the impact of 
spending decisions taken through the annual budget process, we recognise the need 
to review the approach underpinning the SIIA of the Budget.  
 
Since we first published an equality impact assessment of the 2011-12 Budget, we 
have evolved our approach to develop an SIIA of the budget since 2015-16. This 
reflects that we now aim to fulfil our responsibility to consider strategic spending 
decisions through a number of lenses to understand their impact. 
 
Alongside preparations of the forthcoming budget we are intending to test alternate 
approaches aimed at improving how we take and understand the impacts of 
spending decisions.  We are also looking at how the Future Generations 
Commissioner’s journey checker might support this work. We would be happy to 
engage with the Committees as this work progresses. 
 
Over a longer time frame, we will consider how a more-focussed piece of work that 
reviews the progress made in relation to the SIIA might support further 
improvements. This work would need to align to the planned 2019 review of the 
Integrated Impact Assessment tool described below. 
  
Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) tool 
 
As set out earlier in this response, the IIA tool is the mechanism by which the impact 
assessment of a particular policy is arrived at.  The IIA tool has been developed to 
streamline the Welsh Government’s existing impact assessments into a single, 
integrated framework that will guide policy and legislative development.  The 
development of the IIA tool was informed by a report Welsh Government 
commissioned from the then Public Policy Institute for Wales (PPIW) Reducing 
Complexity and Adding Value: A Strategic Approach to Impact Assessment in the 
Welsh Government2. 
 
One of the report's key themes was the need for a coherent system of assessing 
impact in the context of it being an integral part of the policy-making process.  The 

                                            
2 https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Impact-Assessments_FINAL-30-Apr.pdf 

Pack Page 85



report also stated that the Well-being of Future Generations Act provided a strong 
framework for harmonising and integrating the approach by which impact is 
assessed.  It is important to highlight that the IIA tool is intended to be a guide to 
support the development of policy so that when choices are made about a course of 
action, Welsh Ministers are informed of the potential positive and negative impacts.    
 
When the IIA tool was launched in July 2018, we committed to review the tool during 
2019 to consider its effectiveness and whether further improvements are 
appropriate.  The feedback from its use to date is that the tool is very helpful in 
enabling a more integrated approach but is quite complex, long and daunting, 
particularly if considered too late in the policy-making process.  One of our main 
areas of focus therefore will be to further refine the tool so that it supports 
assessment of impact throughout the policy and legislation-making process.   
 
The 2019 review will be comprehensive and focus on driving better policy-making 
and greater transparency.  It will also include engagement with a number of external 
stakeholders including the statutory Commissioners and members of the Budget 
Advisory Group for Equality.  
 
Recommendation 4.  That the Welsh Government commit to using the Well-
being of Future Generations Act as a framework for the SIIA.  Given our 
committees’ areas of focus, we believe that priority should be given to working 
with the Children’s Commissioner and EHRC to ensure that the legislative 
requirements in relation to equality and children’s rights are fully and 
effectively reflected in the assessment process. 
 
Response: Accept 
 
Strategic Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) of the budget 
 
The Welsh Government made a commitment in 2016-17 to use the Well-being of 
Future Generations Act to frame and inform our considerations of budget proposals.  
We remain committed to using the Act to improve how we make decisions about the 
social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales, now and in the 
future.  The Act provides an opportunity to integrate how we assess the impact of 
policies in a way that complements and reinforces existing statutory duties.  The 
assessment of impact of policies on equalities and children’s rights, for example, is 
fundamental to achieving social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being as 
articulated in the seven well-being goals.   
 
Taking an integrated approach allows us to consider strategic spending decisions 
through a number of lenses to understand their impact, and enables us to better 
understand the impact of decisions in the round.  In assessing the impact of 
decisions, consideration is given to Equalities and Human Rights, Children’s Rights, 
the Welsh Language and socio-economic disadvantage.   
 
We recognise, however, there is further work to be done.  In his evidence to the 
committees, the then Minister for Finance described the steps we took to strengthen 
the process last year, including greater training to budget officials across government 
involving the Future Generations Commissioner’s office.  We also presented the 

Pack Page 86



budget narrative (both outline and detailed) and the accompanying SIIA’s under the 
12 well-being objectives and the six Prosperity for All priority areas so we are clearer 
about how decisions about funding are supporting our objectives.  We will continue 
to reflect on our approach to the SIIA in future budget rounds.  
 
Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) tool 
 
In developing the IIA tool, our approach has been based on integrating all the 
existing impact assessments using the framework of the Well-being of Future 
Generations Act, in line with previous Finance Committee recommendations.  The 
IIA tool requires that all impact assessments are given full consideration and that all 
statutory requirements are met. The tool should be used as a guide to support the 
development of policy in an evidence-based, collaborative and integrated way that 
looks to both the short and long-term, as well as prevention.  The tool should also 
support capturing and providing evidence of the five ways of working throughout the 
process. 
 
Our aim in reviewing the effectiveness of the IIA tool during 2019 will be to ensure 
that the full breadth of impacts are effectively considered and assessed from an early 
stage in policy-making and throughout its development.  The review will also include 
engagement with a number of external stakeholders including the statutory 
Commissioners to capture their views. 
 
 
Recommendation 5.  That the Welsh Government provide an update to the 
Committees on the outcomes of the November 2018 meeting of the 
commissioners, and when it is anticipated the research commissioned on the 
integration of duties will be published. 
 
Response: Accept 
 
As outlined in our response to Recommendation 3, the IIA tool was launched in July 
2018 and officials attended the Future Generations Commissioner’s Advisory Panel 
in November 2018 to discuss the tool. At the meeting concerns were expressed by 
some members about the potential dilution of consideration of impact in taking an 
integrated approach.  It was agreed that Welsh Government officials would further 
engage with the Advisory Panel during the review of the IIA tool and seek to address 
concerns raised.  Officials have agreed with the Future Generations Commissioner 
that they will attend the next Advisory Panel meeting in July 2019 to discuss the 
review’s progress and further steps.  These further steps will involve ongoing 
engagement with external stakeholders, including the Commissioners.   
 
With regards to the research, in November 2018 the then Leader of the House and 
Chief Whip stated that the Welsh Government would commission research to 
examine how we might incorporate further UN convention rights into Welsh law, 
commence the socio-economic duty and strengthen existing regulations or guidance.  
The overall aim was to consider how such actions would interact with the existing 
Welsh legislative framework, including the Well-being of Future Generations Act in 
particular.   
 

Pack Page 87



Subsequently, the First Minister announced in December 2018 that the Welsh 
Government would commence the socio-economic duty, providing a fixed point 
around which other options for strengthening equality and human rights in Wales can 
be considered.  This was followed by an initial workshop in February 2019, attended 
by key equality and human rights stakeholders and experts, the Deputy Minister and 
Chief Whip, the Counsel General and Deputy Minister for Health and Social 
Services.  The workshop highlighted a number of questions and the importance of 
aligning this work to a number of related developments, including the ongoing 
Gender Equality Review.   
 
Substantial further research is still needed to address the wider questions discussed 
at the workshop, which we propose will commence by September with the aim that it 
is  completed by December 2020.   
 
 

Pack Page 88



July 2019 

Re: Assessing the impact of budget decisions - Welsh Government response 

I am responding to your request for my views on the Welsh Government’s response to the joint 
report ‘Assessing the impact of budget decisions’ 

As highlighted in the joint report, I included comments on the Strategic Integrated Impact 
Assessment (SIIA) of the budget and the Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) tool as part of the 
evidence I provided to Finance Committee on the 2019-20 draft budget. My comments included that 
at the moment the majority of impact assessment processes are retrospective in nature; whilst I 
welcome the integrated approach of the Integrated Impact Assessment tool I don’t think there has 
been sufficient training, expertise and capacity building for the people doing Impact Assessments; 
and I think there’s a way of finding a lighter touch, high-level impact assessment using the Well-
being of Future Generations Act (WFG Act) as a framework, and then a deeper dive where specific  
impacts have been identified to still cover those areas that are important. 

In May Amelia John, Deputy Director for Futures and Integrated Policy Making, presented to my 
Advisory Panel (which includes the other statutory Commissioners) about the Integrated Impact 
Assessment tool. She outlined that Welsh Government intend to repurpose the IIA to make a more 
iterative and creative process to assess impact, and that the WFG Act will continue to frame this 
work. I understand that her intention is that a working model of this approach will be available 
towards the end of the year, following testing in a few policy areas. WG have committed to continue 
dialogue with my office and the offices of the other Commissioners.  

I note that the Welsh Government has accepted all of the recommendations from the Committees, 
including ‘Recommendation 4: That the Welsh Government commit to using the Well-being of 
Future Generations Act as a framework for the SIIA’ I do not consider that this has happened 
sufficiently to date in the budget process, and will continue to scrutinise the effectiveness of the 
approach in relation to the next draft budget.  

Kind regards, 

Sophie Howe, Future Generations Commissioner for Wales 

Papur 14 
Paper 14

Pack Page 89



June 28, 2019 
 
Lynne Neagle AM, John Griffiths AM, Llyr Gruffydd AM 
Chairpersons, CYPE, ELGC and Finance Committees  
National Assembly for Wales  
Cardiff Bay  
CF99 1NA. 

Dear Chairpersons,  

Assessing the impact of budget decisions  

Thank you for the opportunity to give our view on the Welsh Government’s response to your 

joint-report on ‘Assessing the impact of budget decisions’. 

We welcome that the Welsh Government has accepted, or accepted in principle, all of the 

Committee’s recommendations. In particular, we note the Welsh Government’s agreement 

that it will give priority to working with ourselves, and the Children’s Commissioner, on the 

assessment process. We look forward to advising the Government as this work goes forward.  

Cumulative impact assessment 

The Commission was pleased to organise a recent briefing (March 14) at which Landman 

Economics briefed Welsh Government officials on a cumulative impact assessment model.  

Landman Economics has developed a model that enables Governments to analyse the 

cumulative impact of spending decisions on certain groups with protected characteristics in 

order for them to take decisions to mitigate against unequal outcomes. The Welsh 

Government demonstrated a willingness to explore this assessment model further, and we 

trust this will be the case. We believe the increased use of cumulative impact assessments 

would offer major benefits in assessing the impact of budget decisions.   

Publication of Impact assessments  

We note the Welsh Government’s commitment to openness and transparency in the 

publication of its impact assessments. It would be beneficial to ensure impact assessments 

are routinely published on the Welsh Government website, in a timely manner and a common 

format.  There have been inconsistencies on if, when and how such assessments are 

published. It would be helpful if this was addressed. In particular, we would welcome the 

Papur 15 Y Comisiwn Cydraddoldeb a Hawliau Dynol 
Paper 15 Equality and Human Rights Commission

Pack Page 90



 

 

 
 

Bydd y Comisiwn yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg a’r Saesneg. 

The Commission welcomes correspondence in Welsh or English. 

 

www.equalityhumanrights.com 

Bloc 1, Cainc D, 

Adeiladau Llywodraeth, 

Heol Santes Agnes, 

Caerdydd, CF14 4YJ 

Block 1, Spur D, 

Government Buildings,  

St Agnes Road, Cardiff, 

CF14 4YJ 

 

Ffôn/Tel:  

02920 447 710 

E-bost/Email: 

wales@equalityhumanrights.com 

 

early publication of impact assessments in order for assurance that an impact assessment 

has been carried out before decisions have been made.  

Review of Integrated Impact Assessment  

We welcome the Welsh Government’s commitment to reviewing its Integrated Impact 

Assessment (IIA) tool. We have offered our support to the Welsh Government as part of this 

review.  

It is essential that the particular legislative requirement to ‘assess equality impacts’ is central 

to the IIA process. We acknowledge the Welsh Government’s desire for a streamlined 

approach and appreciate the potential benefits of various impact assessments being 

considered within the same framework. However, this must not come at the expense of 

evidence of detailed analysis of if and how people from protected groups will be 

disadvantaged (or otherwise) by a particular funding allocation or policy.  

Aspects key to assessment of equality impacts include:  

 A clear emphasis on outcomes and evidence that decisions have been changed if 

necessary, rather than simply a commentary on what has occurred. 

 Evidence that both internal and external engagement with people from protected 
groups has been used to inform decisions. We suggest this engagement goes above 
and beyond the Welsh Government Budget Advisory Group on Equality.  

 Evidence that relevant information that the Welsh Government holds has been taken 
into account in the assessment. 

 Evidence that equality impacts have been considered from an early stage. The 
process should be seen as an ongoing, iterative one, rather than a one off 
intervention. 

 Officials across departments having been given the training and resources to carry our 
assessment of equality impacts.  

 
In our view, there is inconsistency in the quality of impact assessments carried out across 
Welsh Government departments. In particular, assessments can sometimes appear to have 
been carried out late in the process and be largely a commentary on decisions that have 
been taken. Also, there can be a lack of evidence of engagement with people with protected 
characteristics. Furthermore, information on people with protected characteristics is 
sometimes supplied but without detailed reference as to how this has informed the decision 
taken. 
 

Pack Page 91



 

 

 
 

Bydd y Comisiwn yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg a’r Saesneg. 

The Commission welcomes correspondence in Welsh or English. 

 

www.equalityhumanrights.com 

Bloc 1, Cainc D, 

Adeiladau Llywodraeth, 

Heol Santes Agnes, 

Caerdydd, CF14 4YJ 

Block 1, Spur D, 

Government Buildings,  

St Agnes Road, Cardiff, 

CF14 4YJ 

 

Ffôn/Tel:  

02920 447 710 

E-bost/Email: 

wales@equalityhumanrights.com 

 

The review of IIA offers opportunity for improvements to be made to both the process itself 

and its implementation.  

Incorporation of UN human rights treaties and alignment of duties  

The Gender Equality Review has provided opportunity to explore how various statutory duties 

can best be aligned. We look forward to the Review’s Phase 2 report and playing our part in 

taking forward relevant recommendations. The Commission would welcome further 

exploration being given as to how the Public Sector Equality Specific Duties for Wales can be 

amended and strengthened to ensure they are focused on delivering outcomes for 

individuals. The Commission is jointly hosting a Symposium on July 11 with Welsh 

Government that will inform the Welsh Government’s thinking in reviewing and making the 

specific duties more effective in addressing the greatest inequalities in Wales.  We would 

welcome greater clarity on the timetable for the Welsh Government’s stated intention to 

review the specific duties.  

The Welsh Government has repeatedly stated it is considering how UN human rights treaties 

can be further incorporated into Welsh law and policymaking.  We welcome this position and 

believe the Welsh Government should pursue this aim with urgency. However, little detail on 

this commitment has been made public, and the timetable for legislative change and 

implementation is likely to be lengthy. It would be helpful for the Welsh Government to 

provide further information on the nature of the research it will be carrying out in relation to 

this. Again, we offer our support to both Government and your Committees as this work is 

taken forward.  

Yours sincerely,  

 

Ruth Coombs 

Pennaeth Cymru / Head of Wales 

 

Pack Page 92



Children’s Commissioner for Wales’ view on the Welsh Government’s Response to 

the joint committee report: ‘Assessing the impact of budget decisions’ 

This note provides comment on the Welsh Government’s responses to the recommendations 

of the joint committee. It does not seek to repeat or replicate the evidence given in writing 

and in person to the joint committee sessions in November 2018. 

I am pleased to hear that the Welsh Government has committed to working with my office 

and the offices of other statutory commissioners (recommendation 1) ‘to provide greater 

clarity on the purpose and expected outcomes of the SIIA process’. I hope that this work can 

now begin at pace to ensure that the budget-setting process for the 2020-21 budget is 

subject to the scrutiny that a comprehensive SIIA would bring. 

As I stated in my evidence to the joint committee, I would expect a comprehensive Children’s 

Rights Impact Assessment (CRIA) to be completed and published alongside the budget. This 

CRIA should include within its remit all elements of the budget relevant to children and young 

people.  

The Welsh Government has responded to recommendation 2 by saying that it feels ‘further 

consideration needs to be given as to whether this would aid accessibility, understanding 

and transparency’. The Welsh Government says that this is because publishing the individual 

impact assessments in a central location instead of alongside the relevant documentation 

could confuse those accessing the suite of documents published in relation to a particular 

decision or policy.  

In relation to providing individual impact assessments in a central location, which would 

include Children’s Rights Impact Assessments, I do not find the Welsh Government’s 

explanation to be adequate. If the Government has already published individual 

assessments alongside policy / decision documents, then I am unsure why it would not also 

be possible to publish these individual assessments to a central location. I believe that this 

step would demonstrate a real commitment from Welsh Government to transparency, and 

would provide myself and others the opportunity to engage with them in a constructive way 

on the findings of their individual impact assessments. The current situation is not, in my 

opinion, sufficiently transparent. 

Minsters in Wales have a legal duty to consider how the decisions they make affect children’s 

rights. Currently, that duty is not given enough weight in the budgetary decision-making 

process, despite the fact that Children’s Rights Impact Assessments form a part of that 

process under the Government’s Children Rights Scheme. 

Papur 16 Comisiynydd Plant Cymru 
Paper 16 Children’s Commissioner for Wales

Pack Page 95

http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s80336/Written%20evidence%20Childrens%20Commissioner%20for%20Wales%20-%20Impact%20assessments%20in%20relation%20to%20the%20draft%20bu.pdf


 

2 
 

 

I welcome the commitment to review the approach to the SIIA and the IIA (recommendation 

3). I am pleased that the IIA review commits to engaging with external stakeholders. I would 

expect that external stakeholders, including my office, are to be offered an opportunity to 

contribute to both these reviews.  

 

Specifically in relation to IIAs, in our experience, the extent to which an IIA is published 

alongside documents is inconsistent. As an example, some Welsh Government 

consultations may publish a short summary document which provides one or two sentences 

relevant to the impact on children and young people and children’s rights, while others 

provide the full Integrated impact assessment document upon the launch of the consultation 

which includes a completed CRIA section (annex A) alongside other impact assessments.   

 

Where CRIAs are published as part of an IIA, alongside documents, or made available on 

request, we continue to be concerned about the variety in their quality, and an inconsistency 

in their application of the process of the Welsh Government’s CRIA as prescribed in their 

Children’s Rights Scheme. We have seen examples of CRIAs which do not actually attempt 

to answer the broad question over whether and or how the policy will have an impact on 

children and young people, let alone attempting a fuller process. 

 

I am concerned that the commissioned research referred to in recommendation 5 has not 

yet commenced, and would have expected progress by this stage in order for us to apply 

some learning to the 2020-21 budget-setting process. I would have liked to see this process 

commence at a quicker pace, but am pleased that Welsh Government has committed to 

commencing research by September. I look forward to engaging with Welsh Government 

and others to drive this forward to ensure that the situation improves throughout the 

upcoming budget-setting process.  

Pack Page 96


	Agenda
	2 Inquiry into empty properties: evidence session 3
	ELGC(5)-22-19 Paper 1 Scottish Empty Homes Partnership
	ELGC(5)-22-19 Paper 2 No Use Empty Project
	ELGC(5)-22-19 Paper 3 Action on Empty Homes
	ELGC(5)-22-19 Paper 4 E.ON

	3 Inquiry into empty properties: evidence session 4
	ELGC(5)-22-19 Paper 6 CIH Cymru
	ELGC(5)-22-19 Paper 7 United Welsh

	4 Inquiry into empty properties: evidence session 5
	ELGC(5)-22-19 Paper 9 National Landlords Association
	ELGC(5)-22-19 Paper 10 Federation of Master Builders (Welsh only)
	Federation of Master Builders - English (private)

	5 Papers to note
	5.1 Correspondence from the First Minister to the Llywydd regarding international obligations that bind the United Kingdom - 3 July
	5.2 Correspondence to the Minister for Housing and Local Government regarding fire safety in high rise buildings - 4 July 2019
	8 Joint report by the Finance; Children, Young People and Education; and Equality, Local Government and Communities Committees: Assessing the impact of budget decisions - consideration of responses
	ELGC(5)-22-19 Paper 14 Future Generations Commissioner for Wales
	ELGC(5)-22-19 Paper 15 Equality and Human Rights Commission
	ELGC(5)-22-19 Paper 16 Children’s Commissioner for Wales




